

DBOPC
02/28/2019

1 STATE OF MICHIGAN
2 DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
3 REGULAR MEETING

4 _____/

5

6

7

8 Taken at 1301 Third Street, Media Room

9 Detroit Public Safety Headquarters

10 Detroit, Michigan

11 Commencing at 3:02 p.m.,

12 Thursday, February 28, 2019

13 Before Sheila D. Rice, CSR-4163, RPR, RMR

14 Notary Public, County of Wayne

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 APPEARANCES:

- 2 COMMISSIONER LISA CARTER, District 6
3 COMMISSIONER EVA GARZA DEWAELSCHÉ, At-Large
4 COMMISSIONER SHIRLEY A. BURCH, District 3
5 COMMISSIONER WILLIAM M. DAVIS, District 7
6 COMMISSIONER JIM HOLLEY, At-Large
7 COMMISSIONER WILLIE BURTON, District 5
8 COMMISSIONER EVETTE GRIFFIE, District 2
9 COMMISSIONER ANNIE HOLT, At-Large
10 CHIEF JAMES CRAIG
11 SECRETARY GREGORY HICKS
12 ROBERT BROWN

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

1 Detroit, Michigan

2 Thursday, February 28, 2019

3 3:02 p.m.

4 - - -

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Good afternoon.

6 AUDIENCE: Good afternoon.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Welcome to the Board of
8 Board of Police Commissioners meeting. My name is Lisa
9 Carter, immediate past Chair of the police commission,
10 and I represent District 6.

11 On behalf of the board, thank you to those of
12 you who have attended -- who are in attendance to
13 today's meeting. And for the people viewing at home on
14 their local government cable channel, thank you for
15 viewing the meeting.

16 Please note that Commissioners Willie Bell,
17 Elizabeth Brooks and Darryl Brown have requested to be
18 excused from today's meeting.

19 At this time I'd like to welcome our newest
20 commissioner, Ms. Annie Mae Holt, and --

21 (Applause.)

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Ms. Holt is a resident
23 of the Grandmont community and former teacher in the
24 Detroit public school system. I understand that Ms.
25 Holt was sworn in earlier today by the City Clerk, and

1 at this time I'd like to invite Ms. Holt to address the
2 community and the board as you please.

3 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Good afternoon and thank
4 you for this opportunity. I'd just like to say I'm on
5 board, prepared to meet the challenge. As you are
6 aware, i have been appointed the position membership at
7 -- member at-large.

8 I'd like to say thank you, Mayor Duggan. A
9 special extension of thanks to the City of Detroit
10 Council that confirmed the appointment. And again, I'm
11 just excited to be here with the intent to serve a
12 purpose.

13 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, Ms. Holt.
14 And we had an opportunity to meet by chance a couple
15 days ago. So welcome and we're glad to have you.

16 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you again.

17 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

18 At this time the invocation we've invited
19 Mohamed Ali of the Detroit Chaplain Corps to provide
20 invocation.

21 MR. ALI: Peace and blessings be upon you all
22 and good afternoon.

23 AUDIENCE: Good afternoon.

24 MR. ALI: In the name of God, the most
25 gracious, the most merciful.

1 Lord, we are gathered here today with humble
2 hearts committed to do your work. We ask you for
3 clarity, judgment, good judgment and wisdom in our
4 actions and words. And finally, in the words of
5 prophet Moses, we ask you to bless our intentions, ease
6 our tasks and untie the knot from our tongues so that
7 we may better understand each other, for all praise and
8 glory is due to you. Amen.

9 AUDIENCE: Amen.

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you. At this
11 time, we'll have the commissioners introduce
12 themselves, starting to my right with Commissioner Holt
13 once again.

14 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Good afternoon. Member
15 At-Large, Annie Mae Holt.

16 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Good afternoon. William
17 Davis, District 7.

18 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Good afternoon. Shirley
19 Burch, District 3.

20 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Good afternoon.
21 Eva Garza-Dewaelsche, At-Large.

22 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Jim Holley, At-Large.

23 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you,
24 commissioners.

25 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, you have a quorum.

1 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you. At this
2 time, commissioners, you have before you the agenda for
3 February 28, 2019. Your motion for approval?

4 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: So moved.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Support.

6 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
7 supported that we adopt the -- approve the agenda for
8 February 28th.

9 Is there any discussion?

10 Those in favor?

11 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those opposed?

13 Motion carries.

14 Commissioners, you have before you the
15 minutes from February 24th -- 21st, 2019. Is there a
16 motion for approval?

17 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: So moved.

18 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Second.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
20 supported that we approve the minutes from February
21 21st. Is there any discussion?

22 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes. I know
23 Commissioner Brown looked at the minutes and he said
24 that they was incorrect. He didn't elaborate. He just
25 said there was stuff missing. So I'm going to be

1 voting no on the minutes.

2 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those in favor?

3 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: What was his objection?

4 COMMISSIONER CARTER: His -- they're wrong.

5 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: He had indicated that
6 they was missing information. So I'm going to vote
7 against it, but it's up to y'all how y'all do.

8 COMMISSIONER CARTER: He didn't elaborate on
9 any of the missing information?

10 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: No.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Mr. Hicks?

12 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, I don't believe
13 there's any missing information in the minutes.

14 I do want to remind you that what is required
15 in the minutes is to -- under the Open Meetings Act is
16 to list those in attendance, to verify that a quorum is
17 present and to record the motions or actions of the
18 board. We also then record or take notes of our public
19 comments so that they're included in the minutes as
20 well.

21 So those are the baseline requirements.
22 There are times where I have tried to follow certain
23 discussions that were taking place in the board, but
24 those were not necessarily decisions of the board so --
25 and in one case there may have been a time in the past

1 where we've wanted to make sure that we captured, for
2 example, details in terms of what the -- in the Chief's
3 report, for example, some of the details in which he
4 provides with us and so forth. And when we do that
5 informationally it's not a requirement, because it was
6 not a motion that had been put in front of the board
7 and a vote in which the board had taken. So --

8 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Madam Chairperson, I
9 just move the previous question.

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those in favor of the
11 approval of the minutes?

12 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

13 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Aye. Necessary
14 corrections.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those opposed?

16 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Opposed.

17 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Opposed.

18 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Motion carries.

19 At this time I'd like to welcome Commissioner
20 Griffie.

21 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: My apologies on my
22 tardiness.

23 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you. Thank you
24 for joining us, ma'am.

25 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Thank you.

1 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Mr. Hicks, would you
2 introduce, please, the rest of the Board of Police
3 Commission staff.

4 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair.

5 Typically, Mr. Brown would be sitting here.
6 He's out doing whatever Mr. Brown does. I'm sure he's
7 doing some work on behalf of the board.

8 I do want to call your attention to the first
9 row here. Of course, Ms. Blossom who handles our media
10 outreach, Ms. White who is the -- in charge of our
11 policy area. And then when we go to the second row I
12 see Dr. Anderson who is the HR director, Ms. Johnson
13 who is in charge of our fiscal area. And then I'm
14 trying to see if I missed -- oh. I should indicate
15 that Mr. Wyrick is away from the meeting today because
16 of a medical emergency. And if we go then over to Dr.
17 Polly McCalister who not only introduces herself, but
18 the balance of the staff from the Office of the Chief
19 Investigator.

20 DR. McCALISTER: Good afternoon, board.

21 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

22 DR. McCALISTER: I'm Dr. Polly McCalister,
23 Chief Investigator. And attending today's meeting with
24 me is Supervising Investigator Cromwell, Senior
25 Investigator Jones, Senior Investigator Rivera,

1 Investigator Banks, Investigator Calloway and
2 Investigator Washington.

3 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, I should have also
4 added at the time that Sheila Rice is the court
5 reporter today, Media Services is providing audiovisual
6 work and Sergeant Quinn is taping today's session.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, sir.

8 Good afternoon, Chief Craig.

9 CHIEF CRAIG: Good afternoon.

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: At this time would you
11 introduce any staff that you might want to introduce.

12 CHIEF CRAIG: Yes, Madam Chair. Starting
13 with Assistant Chief White.

14 A.C. LEVALLEY: David LeValley, Assistant
15 Chief, Office of Neighborhood Policing.

16 D.C. BARREN: Deputy Chief Elvin Barren,
17 Neighborhood Policing East.

18 D.C. FITZGERALD: Deputy Chief Charles
19 Fitzgerald, Neighborhood Policing Bureau West.

20 COMMANDER STEWART: Tiffany Stewart,
21 Commander, Major Crimes.

22 CAPTAIN MCGINNIS: Michael McGinnis, Captain
23 Homicide.

24 CAPTAIN HAYES: Franklin Hayes, Captain,
25 (Inaudible).

1 SERGEANT HEWITT: Sergeant Gerald Hewitt,
2 Office of the Chief.

3 COMMANDER BLISS: Commander Mark Bliss, court
4 ops.

5 CAPTAIN GARDNER: Captain Melissa Gardner,
6 Communications.

7 LT. RICKETT: Lieutenant Jamar Rickett,
8 Communications.

9 COMMANDER BRYANT: Commander (Inaudible),
10 Professional Standards.

11 MR. GRAVELINE: Christopher Allan Graveline,
12 Professional Standards and Constitutional Policing.

13 LIEUTENANT CAVIN: Lieutenant Stacy Cavin,
14 Labor Relations.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you all for
16 attending the meeting today.

17 At this time any elected officials or
18 representatives please stand and give your name for the
19 record. I believe I saw -- yes.

20 COUNCILMAN McCALISTER: Councilman Roy
21 McCalister, Jr., Detroit City Council, District 2.
22 Always a pleasure to be here.

23 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you for joining
24 us, sir.

25 COUNCILMAN McCALISTER: Yes, ma'am.

1 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Any others?

2 Thank you. At this time we're going to have
3 the resolution honoring retiring Captain, Donna Torres.

4 Do we have the resolution?

5 MR. HICKS: Yes. The resolution is included
6 in the packet.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Is she here? I didn't
8 see her.

9 MR. HICKS: My understanding is she was not
10 going to be here today.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Okay.

12 MR. HICKS: We understand that she will be
13 leaving the department very soon and then leaving out
14 of town. So we wanted to put this in so we'd have an
15 opportunity to give it to her prior to her leaving out
16 of town.

17 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Okay. Thank you,
18 Mr. Hicks.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Okay. Thank you.
20 I will read the resolution on behalf of the board.
21 It's a resolution honoring retired Captain Donna
22 Torres.

23 "Whereas Donna Torres was appointed to the
24 Detroit Police Department on May 8, 1989. Upon
25 graduating from the Detroit Metropolitan Academy,

1 Officer Torres began her career at the Mini Station
2 Section.

3 "And whereas Officer Torres' assignments with
4 the Detroit Police Department included the Tactical
5 Services Section, Police Recruiting, Fiscal Management,
6 Supportive Services Division, Twelfth Precinct and the
7 training academy.

8 "And whereas Officer Torres displayed
9 tremendous knowledge and leadership skills as a police
10 officer and was promoted to the rank of sergeant on
11 January 22, 1999. As sergeant, she was reassigned to
12 the training academy.

13 "And whereas Sergeant Torres was promoted to
14 the rank of lieutenant on November 4, 2002 and was
15 assigned to the First Precinct and later to the Office
16 of the Chief, Chief Labor Relations, reassigned to the
17 Office of the Chief and the Twelfth Precinct. On
18 October 7, 2013 Lieutenant Torres was appointed to the
19 rank of captain and assigned to the Eighth Precinct.
20 She also served at Training, Communication Operations,
21 Investigative Operations, reassigned to Communication
22 Operations and the Office of Civil Rights where she
23 served until her retirement.

24 "And whereas Captain Torres has tirelessly
25 served the Detroit Police Department, the citizens of

1 Detroit and its neighboring communities for 30 years.
2 She has served the Detroit Police Department, the
3 citizens of the city of Detroit with loyalty,
4 professionalism, integrity and dedication, and is
5 widely respected throughout the law enforcement
6 community as the consummate professional.

7 "Now, therefore, be it resolved that the
8 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners speaking on
9 behalf of the citizens of the great city of Detroit
10 recognize and honor the lifelong contributions and
11 commitment to excellence and public service of Captain
12 Donna Torres. Her display of courage and unwavering
13 community spirit has improved the quality of life for
14 the citizens of Detroit. We wish you all the best in
15 your future endeavors. We thank and congratulate you,
16 Captain Donna Torres."

17 Thank you. Motion to approve?

18 COMMISSIONERS: Support.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
20 supported that we adopt the resolution honoring retired
21 Captain Donna Torres.

22 Is there any discussion?

23 Those in favor?

24 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

25 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those opposed?

1 Motion carries. I have to --

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, Madam
3 Chair.

4 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I have to back up a
5 little bit with the Chairman's report. I guess I'm in
6 a rush to get things done today. I need to slow down.

7 On behalf of the board I want to express our
8 concern and support for fallen and injured officers.
9 Our concerns for office safety and citizen protection
10 is ranked as the two most important priorities of the
11 board. Our board receives a weekly report from the
12 department listing injured officers. I would ask that
13 the Chief during his remarks provide us with any
14 additional information related to injured and fallen
15 officers.

16 The Board of Police Commissioners meets every
17 week except for Thanksgiving and Christmas holiday
18 periods. We meet at Public Safety Headquarters three
19 weeks in the month on Thursdays at 3 p.m. We also meet
20 in the community every second Thursday of the month at
21 6:30 p.m.

22 Under the Detroit City Charter, Article 7,
23 Chapter 8, the Board of Police Commissioners is
24 empowered to provide civilian oversight and supervisory
25 control of the police department. Our citizens are

1 justified in asking how does civilian oversight of law
2 enforcement help you as a citizen within our community.
3 Our answer is we protect the rights of citizens.
4 Oversight organizations like the BOPC at are the
5 forefront of investigating, reviewing and auditing
6 individual cases of citizen complaints and patterns of
7 operations by police agencies to eliminate misconduct,
8 discriminatory police practices and unnecessary use of
9 force by police. Our work is based on developing and
10 supporting effective policing. Mutual trust and
11 respect between the police and the community is
12 critical toward increasing the quality of life for
13 residents and visitors to Detroit.

14 The Board of Police Commissioners exists to
15 provide civilian oversight for the work of the Detroit
16 Police Department. As a board, we receive and
17 investigate noncriminal citizens' complaints, monitor
18 the operations of the department and work with the
19 Mayor and the Chief of Police to make or modify police
20 policy.

21 I want to point to several items for your
22 consideration. The board is continuing to work with
23 NACOLE, the National Association For Civilian Oversight
24 of Law Enforcement, to host the National Conference on
25 September 22nd through 26, 2019 in Detroit. During

1 that time Detroit will be celebrating our 45th year as
2 civilian oversight organization on July 22, 2019. I
3 will repeat this message several times -- well, the
4 Chair will -- several times as we approach September
5 conference. We're inviting law enforcement and other
6 civic-minded individuals and organizations to join us
7 at the conference. The planning process is well
8 underway, and again we invite your participation.

9 I remind board members that in the month of
10 March 2019 our plans are to conduct two community
11 meetings. The first will be on March 7th at Western
12 International High School at 1:30 p.m. Also, we will
13 have our regular community meeting on March 14th at
14 Second Baptist Church located at 441 Monroe Street,
15 downtown Detroit, starting at 6:30.

16 I would also like to acknowledge that this is
17 our last meeting to be held during the 2019 Black
18 History celebration. In the last few meetings we have
19 highlighted several important historical events related
20 to Black history. This meeting I would like to
21 highlight some local events.

22 The overwhelming majority of residents of
23 Detroit will agree that Mayor Coleman A. Young
24 represented the spirit of Detroit and is likely to go
25 down in history as the most impressive mayor for our

1 city. According to writer and historian, Ken Coleman,
2 in his book, "On This Day in African-American History
3 in Detroit," Ken Coleman documents that in February
4 1969 Detroit labor leader and veteran Tuskegee Airman,
5 Coleman Alexander Young, testified in front of the U.S.
6 House on un-American activities. Coleman Young by
7 testifying fault against racism, racist bigotry,
8 resisted being tainted as a scrooge of the nation --
9 scourge of the nation, because he was Black and held
10 unconventional political views in his day. Coleman
11 Young defeated -- defended the right of all American
12 workers to organize and fight against racism and
13 economic exploitation. Young's testimony back in 1969
14 was considered the first step toward becoming a major
15 leader and American icon. Young would be joined by
16 thousands of Black leaders emerging from every walk of
17 life in the Black community.

18 Another individual who remains active today
19 and oftentimes attends the meeting of the Board of
20 Police Commissioners is Dr. Arthur Divers. Dr. Divers
21 in 1969 headed the Cotillion Club. The Cotillion Club
22 was an interesting mix of Black professionals and Black
23 business leaders. The club fought for social justice
24 and is famous for introducing Black teens to society.
25 The club infused confidence and good habits into a

1 large number of Blacks who themselves made future
2 contributions to Detroit. But in this case, according
3 to Ken Coleman, Dr. Arthur Divers pressured Detroit
4 Mayor Jerome P. Cavanagh to appoint Blacks to city
5 boards and commissions. Historical accounts of this
6 pressure suggest that as a result of Dr. Divers some 30
7 percent of the boards and commissions had Black
8 representation by 1970.

9 Today on our agenda, we will have a
10 resolution -- well, we did the resolution honoring
11 Captain Torres for 30 years of distinguished service.

12 We also have two presentations scheduled.
13 The first presentation will be a report from the DPD
14 finance on second quarter -- the second quarter of our
15 current fiscal year 2018/2019. The report will be
16 presented by Ms. Pam Scales, Deputy Financial Officer
17 for the City of Detroit. The board received a copy of
18 the PowerPoint presentation around noon today. The
19 presentation is limited. During our last quarterly
20 update I recall Commissioner Davis questioning the lack
21 of financial documentation as part of the report. I
22 thought that we had an agreement that more specific
23 financial information would be shared with the board.
24 We requested a simple analysis of budgeted revenues to
25 actual expenses grouped by the four funds that finance

1 DPD. We hope to learn if DPD spending levels are in
2 line with the approved budget and comply with the
3 mission of the department.

4 The second presentation will be from Dr.
5 Polly McCalister who will give the report from the
6 Office of the Chief Investigator. We will also have a
7 subcommittee report from the personnel and training
8 subcommittee related to disqualification appeals for
9 persons interested in attending the Detroit Police
10 Academy. This subcommittee is chaired by Commissioner
11 Eva Dewaelsche. Under standing and ad hoc committee
12 reports I will be going to Commissioner Dewaelsche for
13 that report.

14 Later in the meeting we will also go into
15 closed session to take up a matter of -- the matter of
16 Police Officer Michael Collins, badge number 352.
17 Officer Collins has been charged with two felonies by
18 the Wayne County Prosecutor, Kym Worthy, and Chief
19 Craig has petitioned the board for a change in duty
20 status to suspend Officer Collins without pay, but with
21 medical benefits. This matter will be taken up after
22 public comments. The board will return to regular
23 order after the closed session to vote on any matters
24 discussed during the closed session.

25 In addition to the resolution and the two

1 presentations and the closed session, we will have our
2 regular report from the Chief of Police. The Chief
3 will review some of our current crime statistics and
4 update us on any additional personnel with injuries in
5 the line of duty.

6 I want to acknowledge the department's recent
7 administrative message, Teletype number 19-0132
8 regarding deescalation during the use of force
9 incidents. The message walks through the force
10 continuum and various legal cases that impact
11 deescalation.

12 We also ask that the Chief to update us on
13 any critical issues facing the department, including an
14 update on the Chief's recent press conference wherein
15 the Chief announced his decision to terminate the
16 services of Officer Steele.

17 We also ask the Chief to report on the
18 parallel investigations of Officer Steele's partner and
19 the environmental investigation within the Sixth
20 Precinct, police precinct. Finally, we ask the Chief
21 to report on two recent news stories. The first is the
22 report about our -- one of our officers who was
23 charged -- who has changed his testimony in the case of
24 Terrance Kellom. The second news report is related to
25 the 911 call coverage and response time.

1 Immediately following our presentations and Q
2 and answer from the board, we will have public comments
3 from the audience. Again, we have adjusted the agenda
4 to move public comments up in advance of the closed
5 session so that will -- so that we will hear from the
6 public without forcing them to stay until the closed
7 session is over.

8 Please make sure that you print your name on
9 the speaker's card. They are located in the back on
10 the table or may be obtained from Mr. Brown seated here
11 in the front. He will need your card before the
12 beginning of public comments. We will hold each
13 speaker to the allotted two minutes. Remember, after
14 the closed session the board will return and handle any
15 votes necessary flowing from the closed session.

16 And at this time I'm going to turn it over to
17 Chief Craig.

18 CHIEF CRAIG: Good afternoon, Madam Chair,
19 and board. As always, I will start out with --

20 COMMISSIONER: Good afternoon.

21 CHIEF CRAIG: -- my crime stats, our crime
22 stats. Prior to the meeting I sent a message through
23 Mr. Brown and Mr. Hicks about one of the items you were
24 requesting, a matter that's being litigated in the
25 civil court, a story that was aired on WXYZ concerning

1 a DPD officer who allegedly changes his testimony.
2 That matter I will not be discussing in this forum.
3 However, I will say I have had a conversation with the
4 prosecutor and the U.S. attorney who is monitoring this
5 case and -- but they're no issues that we see at this
6 particular time as relates to that.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, sir.

8 CHIEF CRAIG: As it relates to criminal
9 homicides, as of today's date we're down 45 percent, 20
10 fewer homicides as compared to this time last year. We
11 are up in sex crimes 20 percent, 24 more sex assaults
12 as compared to this time last year. Aggravated
13 assaults we're up five percent, an increase of 63.
14 Nonfatal shootings we're down ten percent. They're
15 nine fewer nonfatals compared to the year prior.
16 Robberies we're down 54 percent, and it's 25 fewer
17 robberies as compared to this time last year. And I
18 jumped over one. Eighteen fewer robberies. And in
19 terms of carjackings, 54-percent reduction. We're down
20 25 percent. Overall, part 1 crime is up three percent.

21 As it relates to property crimes, we're down
22 in burglaries eight percent, that's 86 fewer
23 burglaries, down 20 percent in larcenies, 383 fewer.
24 Motor vehicle thefts we're down four percent, with a 39
25 fewer auto thefts as compared to this time last year.

1 Overall property crime is down 13 percent. There are
2 508 fewer property crimes.

3 As it was requested by Commissioner Davis, we
4 modified our daily report to in addition to include
5 crime to include response time. If you turn on the
6 backside, you will see a breakdown. We've also added
7 priority response time. And as of today's date last
8 week our response time for priority 1s we're sitting at
9 12.45. And last day -- or yesterday our response time
10 for yesterday was 11.24. We also include each and
11 every precinct, as you requested. And you can take a
12 look and see the various response times in each of the
13 precincts.

14 I will call Assistant Chief White up at the
15 appropriate time once I get done with my other updates
16 to just go through the other story by Ross Jones of
17 WXYZ concerning 911 calls.

18 But before going to just kind of give you an
19 update, one, as indicated, I appreciate the support
20 from this board and certainly the community in being
21 patient throughout this process. I applaud the work of
22 Professional Standards in really diving into this
23 investigation and within the prescribed time, two
24 weeks, we had the investigate complete. The hearing
25 was conducted on Thursday. And, as you know, it was my

1 decision that Officer Steele would be terminated. As
2 it relates to his partner, Officer Harrison, we
3 anticipate being prepared to hear that case -- or I
4 will be hearing that case in the coming week. I don't
5 have an actual date yet. As you know, in the Internal
6 Affairs investigations, as I reported, there were
7 roughly 55 interviews in that case. Steele was
8 initially charged with 22 allegations, 11 of those were
9 sustained. The remainder were withdrawn by me based on
10 policy, a violation that really wasn't codified in our
11 SOPs.

12 In terms of our companion investigation, the
13 environmental, that investigation is continuing. Chief
14 White when he gets up to talk about the response time
15 might address how close we are. I believe we're about
16 two weeks out on that case. There have been in excess
17 of a hundred interviews conducted in that -- I can tell
18 you preliminarily that -- and I said this in the news
19 conference yesterday, the issues are not reflective of
20 the entire precinct. The vast majority of the men and
21 women who work at the Sixth Precinct are honorable,
22 hardworking police officers, but there are some issues
23 we're finding.

24 We're also as part of this environmental
25 audit we have interviewed managers, former managers,

1 supervisors, former supervisors, some retirees. So
2 we're looking forward to report out on the conclusion
3 of that report. As I indicated weeks ago, we would be
4 making that report available for you for a
5 conversation.

6 And as I turn it over to Chief White, in
7 response to the 911 call, one of the things that comes
8 up often, and I'm going to take us back in time, when I
9 first arrived here we know what the response time was
10 reported out at, the priority calls. They had
11 something called Can 04 that was a common practice in
12 the police department where at 4 a.m. in the morning
13 calls that were not serviced were placed in this
14 so-called can, and they were handled when they could be
15 handled. And certainly Chief White can elaborate on
16 that.

17 But one of the things when I arrived I wanted
18 to adopt a similar policy that's used in the city of
19 Los Angeles in how response time is measured. In LA,
20 at least it was when I was there, response time was
21 measured once the call was given or dispatched to a
22 response unit. That's when the clock would start
23 ticking. The clock would stop ticking at the time the
24 officer arrived at the scene, and that was something I
25 wanted to do. And certainly the Mayor and I had a

1 conversation about it. He didn't feel, and I do agree
2 with him, that that's not really showing what service
3 really looks like. I mean, because if the call comes
4 in to a 911 call center and it sits for a while, a unit
5 is trying -- you're trying to find a unit to respond
6 out. What you will see is a delay.

7 So you're not really getting a true response.
8 **A true service response is when that citizen picks up,**
9 **dials 911, and once that call has ended that clock**
10 **starts to tick. That really is a true reflection of**
11 **what is response time.**

12 One of the challenges that we see, and I
13 would like for Chief White to elaborate on some
14 research he did, because different police departments,
15 major city police departments, measure response time
16 differently. I used LA as one example, but we do it
17 differently.

18 So what is the standard? A lot of
19 departments will tout -- like in LA, their goal is a
20 seven-minute response time. Of course it's a much
21 larger city, much -- many more police officers.
22 Seven-minute response time at least was their goal, and
23 it was called a 7/40 plan, seven minutes to respond to
24 priority 1s and then 40 minutes available time to go
25 out and do what they call proactive policing. So, that

1 said, if we were to measure like other police
2 departments our response time would certainly be lower
3 than 12, which we hover between 12 and 13 minutes.

4 You will take note I already mentioned that
5 as of last week our response time is set at 12.41, but
6 if you look at travel time. So when you look at travel
7 time, which is what some -- that's the only measurement
8 some departments look at. The travel time for the
9 prior week was 7.11. And again, when you look at call
10 load, time of day, a lot of those are factored in.

11 But with that I'm going to turn it over to
12 Chief White who can address the issues that were raised
13 in Ross Jones' story.

14 A.C. WHITE: Thank you, Chief. Good
15 afternoon, board. Good afternoon, Chief.

16 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

17 Before you start, I just want to acknowledge
18 chief -- I'm sorry, Commissioner Burton who came in
19 maybe five, seven minutes ago.

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Sure. Thank you, Madam
21 Chair.

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.
23 Go ahead, Assistant Chief.

24 A.C. WHITE: Good afternoon, esteemed board.
25 I'm going to invite -- for the record, Assistant Chief

1 James White. I'm going to invite Communications up,
2 the supervision of Communications, or did they -- come
3 on up. I also want to introduce our new captain at
4 Communications. Not a new captain to the police
5 department, but a new assignment.

6 Captain Melissa Gardner, do you want to come
7 on up, and Lieutenant Rickett who's been a part of
8 Communications for a number of years. The director is
9 out today.

10 I'll be providing an update, as the Chief
11 indicated, on the story, and just an overview of
12 communications. I've taken some notes. So I do
13 apologize. I usually just go from the top. There's a
14 lot of data. So I'm going to be doing a little bit of
15 reading. I'll start with what the Chief indicated with
16 regards to how response time is measured.

17 Our Planning Department looked at a number of
18 major cities, LA, Cincinnati and a number of other
19 cities throughout the country, and we found that many
20 cities measure response time differently. What we do
21 in Detroit is we measure it from intake to Q time to
22 travel time for the total response time.

23 Intake delay is basically when a citizen
24 calls 911, and from the time they communicate the issue
25 and the address that time is captured. So if you call

1 -- and this actually happened. We've listen to
2 hundreds of calls over the past couple months. And so
3 if there's a series or frantic situation happening, a
4 citizen calls, is very upset, maybe yelling or
5 screaming, that time is captured up until the point we
6 actually get the address identified. Once that
7 happens, it's sent from our call taker to our
8 dispatcher, and what we call that point is the Q time.
9 And then that point it's dispatched, and then the
10 travel time is obviously the time it takes for the
11 officer to receive the run and arrive at the location
12 of the incident.

13 What's unique about Detroit is that intake
14 delay can be anywhere from, you know, two seconds to
15 two minutes. We've even listened to calls that
16 exceeded that. We captured that, because it's our
17 belief, and the Chief's direction frankly, that when
18 that person calls 911 and you pick up that phone you've
19 got to count it.

20 Certainly I think that, you know, some
21 agencies that would make the argument that, well, if
22 you don't have the address you really can't capture
23 that time, because you're counting against yourself.
24 But I think it's important for the board to recognize
25 we capture the entire exchange between the citizen and

1 the police department during an emergency situation in
2 an additional effort to be transparent.

3 Any questions about that before I move on to
4 the report?

5 Okay. So getting to the report, our highest
6 priority remains to provide consistent and timely
7 response to citizens when they call 911. The response
8 time is highlighted in a recent report represent about
9 one percent or 670 of the approximate 100,000 priority
10 1 calls for service analyzed over approximately a
11 20-month period. And that period was January 1, 2017
12 to September 30, 2018. During that time the average
13 response time was 13 minutes and 28 seconds.
14 Ninety-four point five percent of priority 1 runs were
15 responded to during that period of time within 30
16 minutes. One percent of all service priority 1 calls
17 took longer than an hour. And .1 percent of all
18 service priority 1 calls that took longer than an hour
19 required an investigation, and I'll explain that in a
20 moment. That represented approximately 109 of those
21 calls.

22 So going back through the data, 94.5 percent
23 of the priority 1 responses took -- were responded to
24 within 30 minutes. Our motto is, you know, certainly
25 we want to be closer to that 12, 11-minute mark, but on

1 average, and certainly how averages work, some people
2 actually had a greater than 10-minute response time,
3 some had longer. But 94.5 percent of the numbers that
4 I gave it occurred within 30 minutes. One percent of
5 them took longer than an hour, and there were a variety
6 of reasons for that. No cars available in some
7 instances. In some instances we had an officer that
8 was -- one incidence in particular we had an officer
9 that was killed in the line of duty on a particular
10 night. As we looked at it, the calls backed up that
11 night. We had some failures on process. We had a
12 supervisor that was dispatched to a run, and the
13 supervisor never answered up and that run continued to
14 tick up. So there were a number of issues that I can
15 discuss later if the board would like me to.

16 One percent -- or .1 percent, I apologize, of
17 the runs that took longer than an hour required
18 investigations. And we have a number of active
19 investigations going on right now looking into process.
20 But the way dispatch works that's not uncommon. We
21 constantly audit ourselves, and we have a number of
22 investigations that are constantly running in
23 communications as a result of our own protocols.

24 So if a call is on the board for more than an
25 hour that's an immediate investigation as to why that

1 call sat on the board. That's one of the protocols
2 that the captain has in place and the lieutenant has in
3 place. We also are now looking at priority 2s the same
4 way.

5 What's the tipping point for the priority 2s?

6 LT. RICKETT: Actually, if a priority 2 is on
7 the board in excess of 30 minutes it will be
8 immediately brought to the attention of the
9 Communications supervisor who will then entail an
10 attempt to get the run handled expeditiously as
11 possible who will also reach out to our counterpart in
12 the precincts to (Inaudible).

13 CHIEF CRAIG: And just -- not to interrupt,
14 but can you also talk about when the flag goes up.
15 That's the priority 2 flag. What about the priority 1?

16 LT. RICKETT: Priority 1s are --

17 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Will you step up to the
18 microphone and give your name for the record and speak
19 louder.

20 LT. RICKETT: Lieutenant Jamar Rickett,
21 Communications.

22 Priority 2 calls that are on the board in
23 excess of 30 minutes it automatically flags and alerts
24 the dispatcher who in turn notifies the communication
25 supervisor. That supervisor is entailed to ensure that

1 we look at all manpower. We reach out to the precincts
2 to try to get a unit to that call as expeditiously as
3 possible.

4 In turn, priority 1 calls have a 10-minute
5 mandate. So any time that priority 1 call is on the
6 board in excess of ten minutes it's flagged, and the
7 dispatch it follows the same protocol. They in turn
8 notify their immediate supervisor who then looks at all
9 manpower across precincts and gets the unit to the
10 call.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: How long has that
12 process been in place or is that --

13 CHIEF CRAIG: The audit function it's been --
14 for the priority 2 is new, but priority 1 is --

15 LT. RICKETT: Yeah. The priority 2 is
16 recently new within the last month or a couple months
17 or so. Priority 1 has been in place for at least a
18 couple years.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

20 A.C. WHITE: Thank you. So moving on through
21 the information, in 2018 our department serviced
22 approximately 260,000 calls, 718 per day. Ninety-three
23 percent of all priority 1 calls serviced approximately
24 70,000 in 2018 were handled in 30 minutes or less.
25 Seven percent took longer than 30 minutes, which

1 include one percent that took more than 60 minutes.

2 Currently, 2019, January 1st to 2-25 DPD has
3 serviced 34,000 calls, approximately 617 per day. This
4 consist of 11,000 priority 1 calls, which is an average
5 of about 200 a day. Ninety-five percent of priority 1
6 calls were handled within 30 minutes. One percent
7 again of priority 1 calls took longer than an hour.
8 Point zero three percent, or .3 percent, of priority 1
9 calls took longer than an hour and required an
10 investigation. And again, that theme that you're
11 hearing what required an investigation is those
12 protocols where those reasons that we've outlined did
13 not trigger. So we have to do an investigation to find
14 out exactly what happened in those calls, but again
15 that's our internal protocol system.

16 Currently our communication center handles
17 approximately 3,000 calls for service within a 24-hour
18 period. Approximately 600 of those calls are police
19 related.

20 So just to bring light to a particular fact
21 for the board, all calls go into our call-taking center
22 for emergency services. That's police, fire and EMS.
23 So we take in all calls at the service center. And
24 then 600 of those calls on average are police related.
25 And again, the 200 priority 1 calls per day.

1 As of yesterday, our response time was 12
2 minutes and 45 seconds. And then just bringing the
3 report to conclusion, we recognize that real lives are
4 affected and we want to ensure that our community
5 members are receiving the highest level of service. We
6 have certainly protocols in place to ensure that that
7 happens. There is a human element to this process.
8 There's a -- you know, people make mistakes, you know,
9 when you take a call in. And when we find those
10 mistakes we try to correct those mistakes. But we're
11 not ever going to be in a place where we have a hundred
12 percent mistake-free environment. I wish we were, but
13 that's not the case.

14 When those things happen, we certainly are
15 going to hold our people accountable. You know, the
16 Chief's going to hold me accountable. I'm going to
17 hold my people accountable, and we're going to make
18 sure that we provide the best services that we can.

19 But they're a couple of things that I think
20 there's some misinformation on. For example, the busy
21 signal that everybody talks about. What you will
22 recognize with the busy signal in order for us to
23 produce a busy signal, and we've tried to duplicate
24 this a number of times throughout this process, even
25 pre-Ross Jones' report, and what we found is it's a

1 very unlikely and unusual occurrence to get a busy
2 signal.

3 What does happen, however, if you're on the
4 freeway, and we all see this around five o'clock in the
5 afternoon and we all get on the freeway and we start
6 making the calls to our kids or whatever, and sometimes
7 you get a busy. Well, that's a cell tower. And a lot
8 of people think because you're making a call in Detroit
9 that they're hitting a Detroit tower. That is not the
10 case. The tower bounces. If you're at Eight Mile and
11 Woodward, you can bounce off of a Ferndale tower.
12 Depending on the time that you do that, you now, that
13 tower can just have a lot of information being pushed
14 through it. You see it a lot when you're in sporting
15 events and everybody's trying to make a phone call at
16 halftime and you get a busy. So that's kind of that
17 what you see.

18 Now, what you see with the Detroit Police
19 Department is you see a situation where it goes into --
20 we call it the failover, you know, in our call tree,
21 and what that is is a voice recording. And we need to
22 do a better job of communicating to the community why
23 that happens.

24 So everybody has a phone now. Everybody has
25 a phone. And you will find that there are people with

1 phones that don't even work, but guess what the one
2 feature on the phone is that does work regardless of
3 whether or not you have cell service?

4 AUDIENCE MEMBERS: 911.

5 A.C. WHITE: 911. So when something happens
6 everybody wants to call 911. Everybody calls, and
7 that's a great thing, but in times past that wasn't the
8 case. So you have a new condition that you have to
9 manage, that everybody has a phone with the ability to
10 call 911. When that happens, there will be a call when
11 the phone tree can't support the number of calls that's
12 calling in at the same time on the same incident. So
13 everybody's at Ford Field. They walk out of Ford Field
14 when the game is over. There's 60,000 people. There's
15 an accident. Sixty thousand people, or let's say
16 10,000 people are calling 911. There's going to be a
17 failover from the phone tree.

18 When that happens, you get the voice
19 recording. The voice recording people hear it first
20 thing they want to do is what? Hang up and call back.
21 And when that happens you go right back to the
22 beginning of the tree. So the best thing to do is to
23 stay on the call and allow us to pick it up.

24 We've been managing it. We're looking at
25 auditing it. We continue to audit it. And what we're

1 seeing is the performance on the phone tree of
2 approximately a minute to a minute and 45 seconds.
3 Don't hold me to that number just yet. We're still
4 doing some testing and we're still doing some audits,
5 but preliminarily that's the time frame in which we're
6 looking at.

7 But again, from our standpoint, you know,
8 we're doing the best that we can. We're going to
9 continue to work hard. And we need to do a better job
10 I think of communicating with the community with
11 regards to how that phone tree system works.

12 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair, I'd like --
13 could you also -- it's two other areas I think that's
14 important. You know, the public has access to our open
15 portal data, and if you can talk a little bit about the
16 difference between open portal, especially when it
17 relates to a priority 1 type call.

18 A.C. WHITE: Yes. So our open data portal,
19 which is really where a lot of the information for the
20 report was gleaned. I'm not saying all, because I
21 don't know where all of the data points were for the
22 investigation, but I know the lion share came from our
23 open data portal. And the open data portal came to
24 life about two years ago. Mayor's initiative to
25 basically provide the community with access to

1 information regarding crime incidents.

2 In the open data portal you can see that a
3 particular area -- the actual addresses are anonymized,
4 but the area in which the incident happened isn't. So
5 you can see that a robbery, a larceny, a stolen car
6 happened in this area, they called 911, and it took a
7 certain period of time for us to get there.

8 So here's what someone looking at the open
9 data portal would not know. They would not know the
10 origin or -- strike that. They would not know if the
11 call that they're looking at originated as the call
12 that they're seeing.

13 So the very crude example that we give in the
14 office when we're talking through this is if a cat is
15 in a tree and you call the police, for the Detroit
16 Police Department that cat in the tree is a priority 4,
17 priority 3. So it's not an urgent matter for us. We
18 will try to come, but we have other priorities that we
19 have to deal with. And, if you call and that cat's
20 been in a tree for an hour without doing anything else,
21 but at some point that cat pulls out a gun, all right,
22 that now jumps from a priority 3 to a priority 1 and we
23 respond. And, if we got there in five minutes, you
24 would see an hour and five minutes on that run. Why?
25 Because an hour of it the cat was just in a tree and

1 then an hour after being in the tree the cat produced a
2 weapon. So that's the different.

3 The open data portal does not tell you what
4 the run was and what it is. It shows you the total
5 time and the response time. And it also works on the
6 reverse end, too, to be completely candid. But, if you
7 have a elevation of a priority or a lowering of a
8 priority, you wouldn't know it on the open data portal.

9 CHIEF CRAIG: Could you also -- there's one
10 last thing, and I think it would be good for the
11 community to know, especially when we talk about
12 medical emergencies, pro QA, the requirement for that,
13 and the example you gave me earlier today where three
14 call takers are on the phone with the same incident and
15 each call taker's following the established protocol
16 and the impact that has on other people calling for
17 other instances.

18 A.C. WHITE: Yes. So a lot of times with pro
19 Q and A, and which is short for professional questions
20 and answers, it's an established process, best practice
21 around the country for when you call in to PSAP, which
22 is public safety answering points. And we are an
23 established PSAP. And so as a PSAP we have to have --
24 or we should have these mechanisms in place to ensure
25 that we're providing adequate service to the community.

1 But the most important aspect of pro Q and A
2 is the ability to give medical services to a citizen
3 who's in need at the time that they're on a call.
4 Because what's been established is if you can get those
5 medical services at that time you can save a life. And
6 we've saved many lives in Communications by being able
7 to do that.

8 You may have seen a story last Christmas
9 where a call taker was actually able to walk someone
10 through CPR for her husband and save his life. That's
11 pro Q and A.

12 So if I call, though, and I say I've got a
13 person down, there's a number of questions that I've
14 got to answer to see what protocols to follow to
15 deliver the service. If two people call for the same
16 person, same set of questions, if three people call
17 same incident, same sequence of questions.

18 So a lot of times what happens is someone --
19 a loved one gets hurt, has a heart attack, four or five
20 people call 911, the same incident, okay. So now
21 you've got four call takers on the same incident, four
22 tickets. You cannot hang up. You cannot say I'm
23 already handling it over here, because this person may
24 have more information about the condition of the other
25 person than the other person on the other call. So

1 you've walked through the entire process of pro Q and A
2 with four call takers. The fifth person calls, the
3 fifth person gets the same thing.

4 And that does pressure the system. It really
5 does, but what it also does is it creates a situation
6 where it looks like you have five of the same incidents
7 or five separate incidents, but it really is the same
8 incident.

9 We do a good job of what we call cloning the
10 tickets, and I don't know if the board -- if it pleases
11 the board, we can go into that a little bit more, but
12 it is a very complex process. You recognize that
13 they're multiple tickets. You clone the ticket and
14 then you compress the ticket into one incident. But
15 oftentimes you collect a response time from all five of
16 those tickets to make the one incident. If that --
17 hopefully that makes a little bit of sense.

18 All right. Okay. Any questions?

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Well, yeah. Just
20 before you leave. I'm sorry. I just didn't want to
21 lose my thought. When you said you compress the
22 tickets together, if each one is five minutes so you're
23 adding all five together and that would be 20 minutes
24 or, you know, 25 minutes?

25 A.C. WHITE: It could be. If the intake

1 delay on four different calls is two minutes, it could
2 be eight minutes, you know. It depends on at what
3 point they recognize they're talking about the same
4 call.

5 We had an incident, just by way of example,
6 where it was actually -- I don't know if it was in this
7 report, but it was one of the investigations that we
8 were doing where it was a delay of a hour and a half on
9 a police run. It was a incident where one person
10 called on one corner, and literally a block away the
11 incident was happening. The officer got there in five
12 minutes, but it took the officer time, met with EMS,
13 got to the run --

14 Do you remember the run I'm talking about
15 where they were right down the street from each other?

16 LT. RICKETT: Joy and Livernois.

17 A.C. WHITE: Joy and Livernois. And
18 essentially what happened is the officer's down the
19 street, but we got a ticket because someone else
20 called. And it was on our books as a hour response
21 time. Well, the hour was the fact that before we
22 figured out that there were two tickets the officer
23 here who got there in seven --

24 Do you remember the time? I don't want to
25 put --

1 LT. RICKETT: Eight or nine minutes.

2 A.C. WHITE: Eight or nine minutes. Then the
3 radio it's the same call and then they, you know,
4 compress the ticket and said, okay, it's the other
5 call. But we still took the hour of the delayed
6 response from the block away, but it was the same
7 incident. So those things happen.

8 But I mean, you know, it would be improper
9 for me to say to you that there aren't failures in the
10 system as well. I mean, we certainly have had
11 instances where none of those factors were present, and
12 for those, incidents, you know, we've done corrective
13 action.

14 We've done most recently a corrective action
15 on a dispatcher regarding the way the run was handled.
16 It was totally improperly handled. And those things
17 are going to happen. But there are also included in
18 that factors like I've just explained to the board.

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

20 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioners, any
21 other questions?

22 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Thank you. So a
23 couple -- your presentation was great, and I did want
24 to make one comment that a freeway made a lot of sense.
25 At the previous meeting I told you that I saw a burning

1 building on the freeway. I called and got a busy
2 signal. It makes total sense now. At the time I was
3 concerned, but it makes sense that the cell phone
4 towers could have been an issue there.

5 Some of my questions are -- I think it would
6 help. I love this new report. I think it does give us
7 more clarity in terms of the breakdown of how you were
8 responding to priority 1, 2 and 3 calls. I think it
9 would be great if we had a few more metrics on this
10 scorecard. And the two that I think would be most
11 effective is some kind of a service level metrics. So
12 something around the percentage of calls or responses
13 that are handled within whatever your target range are.
14 So you indicated 99 percent, I believe that was the
15 number, were handled under two minutes or -- I forget
16 the exact number that you gave.

17 A.C. WHITE: Ninety-five percent are within
18 30 minutes.

19 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Within 30 minutes. So
20 if we could show what percentage of those -- so out of
21 the Second Precinct there were 138 calls last week.
22 You know, how many of those calls were handled within
23 30 minutes and show the max response time. So that way
24 we have more information about how performance is
25 going, because you're right. It averages. Any time

1 you have an average, the average always speaks to the
2 middle. It doesn't speak to the lowest and the
3 greatest. And so it would be great to see out of the
4 138 calls that you have here how many -- what was the
5 longest wait out of those 138. So if it was an hour.

6 Those are just two I think metrics that would
7 help color this more for us as we see this on a monthly
8 basis.

9 A.C. WHITE: I'll talk to my partner, A.C.
10 LeValley.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burch.

12 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes. I just wanted to
13 go back over what the Chief said in regarding to when
14 there's an accident there are many people that repeat
15 it. So is there someone in place that -- what you were
16 explaining I think was very good, but if the calls keep
17 coming and you're blocking the 911, how exactly does
18 that work where that has been already handled? You
19 know, if people keep calling, how do you address that?

20 And another thing, if you get an irate, you
21 know, person that calls in, they're very excited and
22 moved by the accident and they can't get through to
23 that technician to explain, exactly how long does it
24 take for someone to intervene to really get the
25 information? Those are two things.

1 A.C. WHITE: Yes, ma'am. Very good question.
2 The first question regarding if you get the person on
3 the call that knows that the call has already been
4 taken, then certainly that communications operator can
5 say -- or call taker can say we already have that call.

6 The problem is -- it's multifaceted. But one
7 of the problems is it's unlikely that you're going to
8 get the same call taker, because there's -- because of
9 the way the call tree works. But, if you're fortunate
10 enough to do that, and that has happened where they're
11 able to say --

12 Yeah. Do you want to talk about that?

13 COMMISSIONER BURCH: It's already been taken
14 care, right.

15 LT. RICKETT: So within the computer-aided
16 dispatch system the operator can be alerted if another
17 call comes within a certain radius. And it will
18 present itself and the operator can see if the second
19 or third calls are related to the initial call that's
20 still in the system. So it will alert the operator.

21 However, as the assistant chief alluded to
22 earlier, if medical information has to be given, they
23 will still go through the protocol. If someone is
24 calling about an accident, there's no injuries, the
25 system -- if it was at Seven Mile and Lahser and this

1 person is saying it's at Seven Mile and Berg, it will
2 alert them within a certain radius that there's an
3 existing call, and the operator can see if those two
4 calls are related. And at that point they can let them
5 know we already have a call or add any additional
6 information to the first ticket without presenting a
7 new ticket for police.

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you.

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Holley.

10 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Thank you so much. Let
11 me ask you this. As a commissioner, if I read a report
12 in the newspaper that says 300,000 residents are
13 elected, elected, and then I come and listen to the
14 report that you just gave me, help me -- how do I
15 delineate to my constituents based on what I've read
16 and based on what you've given me, how do you -- how do
17 I -- how do you respond as a commission -- how would I
18 respond based upon what you've given me and what I
19 read?

20 Am I making any sense to you?

21 A.C. WHITE: Yes, you do, Commissioner. I
22 think, you know, when you talk about calls for service
23 and 911, every call is an emergency call, every single
24 call. But the volume of calls that we receive we have
25 to prioritize them in order. I don't know if I would

1 characterize it as neglected calls, but certainly the
2 service delivery varies from call to call. Priority 1
3 and 2s, because again the volume will get the immediate
4 attention, we will always prioritize life over
5 property. So and report call will take a longer time
6 for us to respond to.

7 So I think the message is what we've all
8 talked about here today, the Chief and myself and the
9 Communications team that I brought with me, is all
10 calls are important to us. They have to be
11 prioritized. If we've fallen short of our service
12 delivery model, hold us accountable, bring it to our
13 attention, and let's deal with that individual call.

14 To put a blanket on the -- or cast a blanket
15 on the entire city as underserved, I don't think that's
16 appropriate. And I don't want to get into a back and
17 forth with the reporter and his report. I think that,
18 you know, he provided the information. He found some
19 calls that were questionable. He found some calls
20 where quite frankly we dropped the ball, and we're
21 going to hold our people accountable. But we also
22 found some calls that were in that report that we
23 handled them based on the information that we had at
24 the time. Some of the information changed, different
25 people called, third-party calls and those types of

1 things.

2 And that's really all we can say is we will
3 prioritize all the calls, hold us accountable when we
4 don't. If you have an incident, a specific incident
5 where it fell outside of our service delivery model,
6 contact my office. We'll do an investigation, but not
7 500,000 citizens not serviced.

8 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I'll just ask you one
9 more thing, Madam Chairperson.

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Yes.

11 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: The average -- the
12 citizens of Detroit, just good hardworking, regular
13 citizens, how did the communications -- how do we
14 respond to a report like that where the average person
15 really understands that -- what you just told me? And
16 I'm average, but the little -- so I'm asking, you know,
17 how do we respond to the report, to the average citizen
18 that would understand that we've got their best
19 interest?

20 A.C. WHITE: Well, I think we all have their
21 best interest, first and foremost as a team, the board,
22 the police department. But I think the story is -- and
23 again, it's a difficult endeavor, because though we're
24 talking about 460,000 police runs --

25 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Right.

1 A.C. WHITE: -- okay, in a two-year period,
2 total police runs, not priority 1 --

3 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Right.

4 A.C. WHITE: -- okay, and then when you break
5 out, you know, one percent of those calls, okay, and
6 when you put those percentages on certainly it paints a
7 picture, but the unfortunate part is in that one
8 percent there's somebody needing emergency service,
9 right. So they're not calling to see how our day is
10 going. They're calling because there is an emergency.

11 So we are working through some of the things
12 that are identified. We have increased our protocols
13 ourselves. There's things that we saw, hey, we can do
14 that a little bit better.

15 And then the other thing is we've added a
16 very dynamic captain to Communications who I introduced
17 earlier, and all of us who know her, who has done
18 phenomenal work in the Detroit Police Department, and
19 she's already been a good fit. And we're going to make
20 some more improvements.

21 So just maybe tell the story of the volume
22 and tell the story of the overall response time, which
23 we stand behind. Twelve minutes and 45 seconds is the
24 response time. It certainly has improved since five
25 years ago. We're not patting ourselves on the back. I

1 don't have confetti waiting for me in the office.
2 We're going to continue to work hard and bring that
3 down even further, because those aren't our numbers.
4 We want to be better than that. And when we don't get
5 it right let us know.

6 CHIEF CRAIG: And through the Chair, I just
7 wanted to add one other thing, and I talked about in
8 the beginning. I think it's critically important when
9 you talk about what is the right standard. I mean, we
10 certainly know any 911 call, as Assistant Chief White
11 pointed out, is critical.

12 But what -- how should we be measured? You
13 know, crime is one thing. Typically all police
14 departments use the UCR model. So there's some
15 consistency, but where we have inconsistencies between
16 police departments if you've got one department, a
17 major city department touting a seven-minute response
18 time and all they're doing is managing the travel, is
19 that really the right way to do it, and that's the
20 problem.

21 The other thing is we were trying to do this,
22 because one thing police departments are not real kind
23 of doing is sharing. We try to get information.
24 Probably Ross Jones could have got it, but we couldn't.
25 And we wanted to know, well, in comparison to other

1 major cities how do we measure up. I mean, that maybe
2 have light populations or even more populations. We
3 couldn't even get total calls for service.

4 And the response time thing, like I say,
5 you've got different cities doing it different ways, if
6 somebody was to do a real robust study, where do we
7 really sit when it comes to our response time. Again,
8 I think the way we do it here truly, truly measures
9 service. There are cities that don't do it that way.
10 And I think that's one of the most critical take-a-ways
11 when you look at it from that point.

12 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Can I say something?

13 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Dewaelsche
14 and then you.

15 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yes. As a
16 commissioner, it's important to me what happens at our
17 meetings every week and who comes and what are the
18 issues that are brought before us. And I think it's
19 important to all of us, we try to respond to our
20 constituencies if you have them or, you know, me to
21 anyone who comes to me because I'm at-large about the
22 issues that are brought before us.

23 And I can tell you that I have not heard
24 anything about response time for quite, quite a long
25 time. I mean, we were just -- some of us were just

1 talking about that recently that that has not been an
2 issue for quite awhile. And to me that means, you
3 know, maybe it's not as severe, at least that's how I
4 would judge it, because, you know, people will come or
5 to our community meetings we get groups that will come
6 and tell us what the issues are in their communities.

7 So is this recent or -- you know, so I guess
8 I'm questioning are these recent problems that we're
9 having? You know, we're asking for more information as
10 a result of them. So I'm glad that it's brought to our
11 attention today, but I just haven't heard, you know, a
12 lot of complaints, I guess.

13 CHIEF CRAIG: Well, through the Chair,
14 perception does matter. And as you so aptly pointed
15 out, you know, five years ago I remember just every
16 meeting complain, complain, complain.

17 I had a conversation with the Mayor over this
18 story. And the Mayor, as you know, he attends his
19 regular community meetings, small meetings. He says I
20 don't hear the complaints on response time, I'm all
21 over this city, I go into meetings, I don't hear the
22 complaints.

23 Now, of course, if you pull that one person,
24 like it was one call where an elderly woman -- a
25 horrible situation where it was a bullet fired into her

1 house. Well, if you were to ask her, or I think her
2 son was interviewed, he's angry. They took forever to
3 get here.

4 And so when you look at that, I mean it's
5 just like when you're talking about crime. I'm sitting
6 here telling you we're 24 homicides down than a year
7 ago, but what do I say to a mother of a three-year old
8 that was killed on the freeway. That 20 fewer
9 homicides don't mean anything to her, or at the end of
10 the year and I'm talking about, you know, the lowest
11 homicide numbers in 50 years. What does that mean to a
12 person who's been a victim?

13 So if I wanted to go out to every call we
14 drop, that person is not going to greet me happily. We
15 know that, but there's another part of the story. And
16 perception does count, and I appreciate you bringing
17 that up.

18 And the Mayor is always out in these
19 communities talking in community meetings. The
20 conversations changed dramatically when you talk about
21 response time. We know what the stories were.

22 So when you talk about recent, we still are
23 better. I'm going to say it. And we don't make
24 excuses. We're very transparent when something
25 happens. It's just like the other story, 65 officers

1 charged in a two-year period. I don't like that story,
2 but I don't run from it.

3 And then when I break down some factors, some
4 real factors, one, we have a police department now that
5 is willing -- these officers are willing to report out
6 on misconduct. That wasn't the case even three years
7 ago. They're doing it now.

8 And this environmental audit that we're
9 doing, I will tell you officers are being candid,
10 they're telling the truth, and because of that we're
11 going to be able to make some significant change. It's
12 not only going to affect the Sixth Precinct. And
13 again, I want to just stress again the vast majority of
14 the Sixth Precinct is good and fine officers, but it's
15 going to help us well beyond that.

16 A lot of people say, well, what's an
17 environmental audit. You know, we could have set back
18 and said, well, let's just deal with these two
19 officers. What about the other issues that are
20 starting to emerge? We'd rather be proactive and then
21 just constantly react to issues.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Okay. I just wanted to
24 encourage Commissioner Holley in what to say to your
25 constituents. Just like Miss Eva said that that

1 doesn't come up that much in my community certainly,
2 but when I address my constituents, just like when the
3 reporter called to get my view on the 911 responses, I
4 simply told him sometimes one incident gets all blown
5 up because of the one incident. I said do fair
6 reporting. Well, share what the 911 has done so very
7 well done, don't just show the negative side. So he in
8 turn kept listening, but he didn't want to talk to me
9 that long because again reporters must do both sides,
10 not just to pick out one issue. I think 911 is doing
11 very well.

12 If you remember, Chief, last year in April we
13 had the OnStar people that came to improve it. So
14 nothing is a 100 percent. So we're getting there so
15 we've just got to be patient and help the police, help
16 the 911. When there's an issue, let them know it.
17 When they've done well, let them know that. That's all
18 I wanted to say.

19 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair, thank you.

20 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Through the Chair. I
21 have one more thing. I find -- you know, reading this
22 article is definitely concerning, I agree. I had -- I
23 -- you know, I think I have heard from people that
24 response time is improving and that same issue is much
25 now before, but I found a lot of -- I found some

1 gratification knowing that you are looking at the times
2 when the response times are -- you know, it's
3 unpredictable. You know, we have response times that
4 it's not a hundred percent. It was five percent of the
5 time when it's over 30 minutes or over an hour that
6 we're looking at that and saying how can we do better,
7 right, and we're examining the data and saying was it
8 because of, you know, location of officers, what was
9 the cause of us being delayed and that we have active
10 plans to go after that.

11 And so for me I think, you know, to the point
12 that my colleagues have made I don't think the issue is
13 as bad as was reported in this article, but I think
14 that we've got to keep going and keep chasing this down
15 until we get better.

16 A.C. WHITE: One last point, through the
17 Chair, I'd like to make. As we looked at everything,
18 not just this article, or report, but just our own
19 process. One of the improvements that we are going to
20 make right away is using our GPS. All the cars have
21 GPS, and oftentimes we use that when we're doing
22 investigations when we're trying to determine, you
23 know, at a certain point in time where an officer is.
24 But we're going to use the GPS now as a regular part of
25 our dispatching.

1 So when we see a car as well as, you know, if
2 a car's available, we will see if a car is available
3 using GPS, pull it up on the board and send that car.
4 And, if they're not on anything of a higher priority,
5 we have talked about pulling them off of those lesser
6 priorities when they're in those areas where those high
7 priorities are and making those runs.

8 So there has been improvements even post this
9 investigation, so ...

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Through the Chair.

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burton.

12 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Hi. You know, for
13 months, you know, I've been trying to bring up about --
14 raise the argument about police response times, that
15 Detroit residents normally will approach myself and say
16 this is what's happening in the community and I called
17 911, I got a busy signal, couldn't get through or the
18 police didn't show or they took 28 minutes, 40 minutes
19 to arrive. But oftentimes when I'll try and bring
20 something up at the table to lead into that
21 conversation the Chair will say, you know, we're not
22 going to entertain this at this time, you know. I
23 think if we would have had the conversation sooner we
24 wouldn't be here today talking about police response
25 times, you know.

1 And to A.C. White, you know, you completely
2 totally misrepresented the facts, completely
3 compromised your honor, your integrity and, you know,
4 you fed the media lies about police response time.
5 When you have a report --

6 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner.
7 Commissioner Burton.

8 A.C. WHITE: So we're going to deal with
9 that.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: When you have a --

11 A.C. WHITE: Excuse me, through the Chair.
12 You will not -- sir, you will not -- you will not
13 disrespect me in this forum, number one.

14 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Don't do that.

16 A.C. WHITE: You will not call me a liar
17 publicly. First and foremost, what you need to do --

18 COMMISSIONER BURTON: But your facts --

19 A.C. WHITE: No, let me -- let me tell you
20 what I --

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And the facts speak for
22 themselves.

23 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burton,
24 you're out of line.

25 A.C. WHITE: Okay. And so --

1 COMMISSIONER BURTON: A reporter like Steve
2 Nevelen (ph) --

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burton.

4 COMMISSIONER BURTON: -- and Charlie
5 LeDuff --

6 COMMISSIONER CARTER: We're not going to --

7 COMMISSIONER BURTON: -- Pulitzer Prize
8 winner --

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: We are not going to
10 entertain this, Commissioner Burton.

11 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the chair, can we --

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: -- does their
13 investigations on --

14 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Let's just break for --

15 COMMISSIONER BURTON: -- response time and --

16 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Let's take a break.

17 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And then also looking
18 at the report --

19 CHIEF CRAIG: Thank you --

20 COMMISSIONER BURTON: -- coming from Ross
21 Jones from WXYZ.

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you. Let's take
23 a break. Let's take five minutes, please. Thank you.

24 (At 4:14 p.m., a brief recess was taken.

25 Back on the record at 4:19 p.m.)

1 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, you have a quorum.

2 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you. We're back
3 on the record.

4 At this time I'd like to extend my apologies
5 to Assistant Chief White. That is not the feeling of
6 this board, and I want you to know that. And I do not
7 appreciate the words that were said. It's
8 unprofessional and it's not what we're about, but I
9 want you to accept my sincerest apology on the record.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Madam Chair --

11 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I do not -- you do
12 not --

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: When Mayor Coleman --

14 COMMISSIONER CARTER: You do not have --

15 COMMISSIONER BURTON: When Mayor Coleman
16 Alexander Young created a civilian oversight body --

17 COMMISSIONER CARTER: You do not have --
18 you're out of line. You're out of line. We're going
19 to go on to the next item on the agenda. Thank you.

20 Assistant Chief White.

21 A.C. WHITE: Yes. I also extend my apologies
22 to the board. I believe in decorum and
23 professionalism, but I also believe in giving a show
24 where you buy the ticket. And those comments were
25 outrageous, you know. There is no position on this

1 earth that's worth my integrity, and I would not stand
2 before this board on television and tell a lie to
3 protect the Detroit Police Department. The response
4 time is what the response time is. There's life after
5 the Detroit Police Department for James White, and my
6 integrity is not for sale.

7 I am absolutely disappointed and insulted by
8 this commissioner, but I also know the cameras are on
9 in the back so he needed a sound bite. So we'll move
10 on to the --

11 COMMISSIONER BURTON: It's not about sound
12 bite. It's about fact.

13 COMMISSIONER CARTER: You're out of line,
14 Commissioner. You are out of line.

15 A.C. WHITE: We'll move on to the next issue.

16 COMMISSIONER CARTER: So we're going to move
17 on to the next issue of the report.

18 CHIEF CRAIG: To the Chair, I just wanted to
19 say thank you to you and the board. And again, Chief
20 White, thank you.

21 A.C. WHITE: Yes, sir. Thank you.

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

23 We're going to move on to the next report,
24 which is the budget report from Ms. Scales.

25 Sorry. You're not Ms. Scales. I apologize.

1 MR. BLAIR: It's okay. Good afternoon, Madam
2 Commissioner and honorable Chair. I'm Andre Blair, the
3 budget supervisor for police finance. Ms. Pamela --
4 Deputy Director Pamela Scales is here as well, or
5 deputy CFO.

6 Next slide, Mr. Brown.

7 So I just want to give kind of a brief
8 overview of the activity that we've done for Q2 in
9 terms of October and December's activity. So, you
10 know, for the last meeting, which was voted on, we've
11 had -- that we were here for we've had the budget
12 submission with new requests for new initiatives that
13 were submitted to both the board and now to the Mayor's
14 office. We in December had our government bonds
15 approved, and we've also seen the transition of police
16 grants, which was once managed by my office is now
17 being overseen by Office of Development and Grants. So
18 those are the kind of major or key things that have
19 happened in this second quarter. Next slide.

20 So for the budget activity through the second
21 quarter we're at an adopted budget of 27.4 million and
22 adopted expenditures of 127 million. That does not
23 represent the entire year. That just represents
24 through the end of the quarter 2, which is December
25 31st.

1 Within that time frame the department has
2 started three new officer training academy classes
3 during the months of July through December, maintaining
4 total sworn and civilian staffing levels in the 91st
5 percentile. And as of December 31st the department is
6 within budget for the year to date, and I anticipate
7 ending the fiscal year within the amended budget. Next
8 slide.

9 So forfeiture activity for Q2 the department
10 has received \$38,000 from the Department of Justice
11 Equitable Sharing Program between the periods of July
12 1, 2018 and December 31, 2018. There have been no
13 expenditures in FY '19, but we expect remaining payment
14 for the department's electronic control weapons to be
15 completed this fiscal year.

16 The department on the local side has also
17 received 554,000 from Wayne County Asset Forfeiture
18 Unit, and there have been approximately 1.1 million in
19 expenditures supporting the forfeiture unit, including
20 salaries and fringes, facilities, uniforms and
21 equipment, training and fleet maintenance. Next slide.

22 And for Q2 some of the capital plans that
23 we've been going into and then also our prepping for
24 technology side the department continues to invest
25 resources and Realtime Crime Center expanding with

1 plans to expand the current Realtime Crime Center to
2 accommodate camera expansion and then as well as
3 creating two realtime crime centers, mini crime
4 centers. Those -- both the camera expansion, the
5 Realtime Crime Center expansion and the two mini
6 Realtime Crime Centers are all part of the approved
7 bond fund projects.

8 The continued investment in the Project Green
9 Light expansion and cutting edge technology as well as
10 the planned deployment of unmanned aerial vehicles is
11 to equip officers with the tools to improve
12 crime-fighting strategies.

13 Facilities. We're continuing to invest and
14 try to improve our current facilities. So we have
15 began and also have completed several precinct
16 projects, including the completion of the Merrill
17 Plaisance Project. And DBA and GSD are currently both
18 working on infrastructure and cosmetic repairs or
19 placements as needed in addition to preparations for
20 larger scale projects that consist of construction of a
21 new armory and also improving our towing facilities.

22 The last thing is fleet. We've gone through
23 and completed the year 1 and year 2 vehicle purchase
24 plan, and we are now in the process of going through
25 the year 3 vehicle purchase plan that will be starting

1 between currently and by Q4.

2 Any questions?

3 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Madam Chairperson, can
4 I ask question?

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Davis and
6 then Commissioner Holley.

7 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: I'd like to say I'm
8 disappointed. I expected to see more, and I would
9 think that you should be able to present more
10 information than what's -- this could have took a
11 minute.

12 MR. BLAIR: So let me say, Commissioner, I
13 heard in the beginning that there was a request for
14 additional information as far as the finance
15 presentation and in-depth information. I wasn't privy
16 to that request. But going forward, making sure that
17 we come back and circle back around for Q3, I will make
18 sure to -- through Mr. Hicks and Ms. Johnson I'll make
19 sure that everything that the board was initially
20 looking for in that conversation again that I wasn't
21 privy to is included in the presentation.

22 And if there's, you know, specific questions
23 that any of you guys have, I'll be glad to respond to
24 them via writing if there's anything that you
25 specifically wanted to know.

1 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I think that you should
2 go back and actually prepare the report that we
3 requested for this quarter and next quarter do it as
4 well, because we did request that information. So I
5 think it's a waste of our time for us to keep asking
6 for things that we don't get and we need --

7 Ms. Scales, did you want to step in?

8 MS. SCALES: Yes.

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: And I'm just sorry. I
10 know you're new.

11 MR. BLAIR: No problem. I understand.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Yes.

13 MS. SCALES: Yeah, through the Chair, I
14 definitely agree. We will provide you more detail. So
15 one of the issues happened in the past has shown that
16 we were asked to do -- I wasn't aware that you had the
17 request for something more detailed. And basically
18 what was presented was presented in the past. We just
19 didn't get that you had a problem with that.

20 So we will -- so I have no problem with us
21 preparing something for Q2. As a matter of fact, we'll
22 have it done and submit it next week so you'll see it.
23 And then Q3 will be definitely more expansive.

24 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

25 Commissioner Davis and then Commissioner

1 Holley.

2 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I was asking the same
3 question, but let me ask you this. Madam Chairperson,
4 I asked this question before. I don't understand why
5 am I looking at something that took place in 2018. Can
6 you just tell me one more time? Am I approving
7 something you've already done? Am I approving
8 something that is to be done, that wasn't done? Is
9 this the different -- I don't understand why I'm in
10 2020 looking at something 2018.

11 MS. SCALES: Through the Chair, our fiscal
12 year starts July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019. So the
13 second quarter ended December 2018. So we are talking
14 about what has happened in the past, but it is in this
15 current fiscal year.

16 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: But I'm -- I'm sorry,
17 Chairman. But I'm approving something you've already
18 done.

19 MS. SCALES: Yes, but you're not really
20 approving --

21 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I mean doing something.

22 MS. SCALES: This is a report telling you
23 what has happened in the past. So the last --

24 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Say if I don't have a
25 problem with the fleet, I have a problem with the

1 technology or salaries, how do I inquire about that?

2 MS. SCALES: Well, so this report, the
3 quarterly reports, are telling you what has happened in
4 the past.

5 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Okay.

6 MS. SCALES: When we were here before, we
7 brought the budget for the future and that's what you
8 were approving what was going on. Of course, if
9 there's any questions, and I know there's a budget
10 committee --

11 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: No. You're doing fine
12 with that.

13 MS. SCALES: -- we can definitely respond to
14 any question and inquiries that --

15 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: I think I understand it
16 better now. This is quarterly.

17 MS. SCALES: Yes.

18 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: And so it's awhile --
19 okay.

20 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Madam Chair, if I
21 could just make a comment. So if you were to provide
22 the report as was requested with the current
23 expenditures, revenues, the budget and expenditures and
24 revenues and then the variance, then that might be
25 clearer to, you know, the Reverend --

1 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Somebody like me.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Yeah. And all of
3 us that, you know, were reporting on how close we're
4 getting to our budget.

5 MS. SCALES: Yeah, absolutely.

6 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Thank you.

7 MS. SCALES: You will definitely have that
8 detail next week.

9 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Thank you.

10 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Any other questions,
11 commissioners?

12 Thank you. At this time we'll have the
13 monthly OCI report by Dr. Polly McCalister.

14 DR. McCALISTER: Thank you. Good afternoon
15 again.

16 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

17 DR. McCALISTER: So in response to --
18 Commissioner Griffie, you mentioned that you wanted to
19 see more about filing citizens complaints. So
20 typically when we go in the community we really kind of
21 talk about this, but quarterly we'll bring it back up
22 so that the community can hear on television.

23 So these are kind of like some important
24 factors. Date of the incident. Sometimes when people
25 file a complaint they'll give us the wrong date, which

1 takes us longer to kind of like track it. So dates is
2 very important.

3 Location. Sometimes if you can't really
4 recall the location if you can give us some pinpoints,
5 it was at General Motors, it was in front of the Ford
6 Building, we can kind of like go out and survey and get
7 some additional information.

8 The description of officers. A lot of times
9 we have so many unknowns. It's difficult to determine
10 who did what. So if we can get descriptions, badge
11 numbers, car codes, license plates.

12 And always give us a detail of the
13 circumstances. Sometimes we get complaints in that
14 will just say the officer was rude, and then we don't
15 have a telephone number to call back. So a lot of
16 times it just leaves the case and we just have to kind
17 of like waste time going through it and close it out in
18 90 days.

19 You don't have to necessarily file the
20 complaint yourself. Somebody else can file it for you.
21 And we request that people file as soon as possible.
22 When filing, you can call us at 596-2499 or you can go
23 to our website or you can fax it directly to us or you
24 can come by in person. We've had so far about 25
25 people come to our new location to file different

1 complaints. So we don't have any issues with that.

2 And you can go to any precinct and file as well.

3 So for January we had a 22-percent increase
4 in citizen complaints. Over last year we are at 74.
5 This year we're at 90.

6 So this chart is presented so that precincts
7 can kind of like monitor the number of complaints that
8 they actually get in their area. So if you look at
9 that the Second Precinct, the Eighth Precinct and the
10 Twelfth Precinct are rather high. And as always our
11 unknowns are extremely high, which is at 32.

12 So our allegations received in January, as
13 always demeanor is always high, procedure is always
14 high, and service has just started to increase. So
15 we've been trying to work with the different commands
16 to try to work on demeanor. We're always stressing
17 think before you speak. When we go into the academies
18 and talk to the recruit officers, we try to stress
19 that, you know, demeanor is a big part of service and
20 just try to educate them on how to talk to the public.

21 So we do track allegations of use of
22 profanity and the F word. So in December we had 11
23 incidents of profanity, and we only had two situations
24 where the F word was actually used. In January we had
25 six uses of profanity and seven actual F word

1 incidents.

2 So far our citizen complaints that were
3 closed for January 2019 we closed an actual -- 2007 we
4 had 207 allegations, which is different from the 135,
5 which means a person can call in and say that they had
6 an issue with the arrest, demeanor and entry. So that
7 leads up to additional allegations that we have to
8 investigate as well.

9 And based on our body-worn cameras, for
10 January out of -- 54 out of the 64 incidents were
11 captured, which is excellent. Ten were not captured.
12 That could have been either the equipment was defaulty,
13 the batteries were low or they might have shut the
14 cameras off, but -- or the three-second delay. But
15 luckily officers are wearing their cameras. They are
16 activating them. So it really helps the
17 investigations.

18 This is our newest where we collect false
19 allegations of the body-worn cameras. So out of 83
20 allegations 24 allegations were proven totally false
21 based on the body-worn cameras. We use this data when
22 we go into the academy to try to encourage new recruits
23 as well as officers to always have your body-worn
24 cameras on and activated.

25 These are just some of the issues that

1 Commissioner Bell asked us to document as far as what
2 are we seeing with body-worn cameras. Sometimes on a
3 raid we're seeing officers turn them off. Sometimes
4 officers reporting from overtime there's not enough
5 body-worn cameras available. Battery issues, no video
6 captured, either it was not functioning or it wasn't
7 activated. And sometimes when citizens file complaints
8 over the 90 days we're unable to retrieve the video.

9 And as newest officers being in possession of
10 their assigned body-worn cameras we had an incident
11 where the officers were issued the cameras and the one
12 officer had on the other officer's body-worn camera.
13 So it was difficult to actually, you know, do the
14 investigation based on that. So we're just asking
15 supervisors when they're issuing equipment out just to
16 take their time and make sure the right officer has the
17 right body-worn camera actually on.

18 And for our citizens complaints for seniority
19 and rank, for lieutenants we increased by one,
20 sergeants we increased by one, police officers we had
21 100. We increased by 11. And for members with ten to
22 19 years we were up 14. For sworn members with 20 to
23 29 years we were up 11. And for sworn members with 30
24 years we were up by two.

25 And as always we talk about our goals. We

1 completed our review of the our SOP and we issued it to
2 Commissioner Bell for review. We'll be speaking at the
3 academy for class 2019-B March 13th at 10 a.m. And as
4 always to continue building relationships with DPD and
5 continue with our theme to improve and inspire.

6 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioners, any
7 questions?

8 Commissioner Davis.

9 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Question, Dr.
10 McCalister. Do you think that your new location is
11 going to facilitate more community coming to be more
12 comfortable? Because I know some people used to tell
13 me they did not like coming down to file a complaint.

14 DR. McCALISTER: Yes.

15 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Or going into a police
16 precinct to file a complaint.

17 DR. McCALISTER: Well, that's what we're
18 basically hearing. So the move was for the positive.
19 We do have people coming out. We actually have people
20 from the community actually just stopping by to see
21 actually what we do. So it works.

22 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: One small problem I see
23 with your location, though, since I was just there
24 earlier today. I think you all need more parking.

25 DR. McCALISTER: Probably so.

1 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: That's it.

2 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Any other questions,
3 commissioners?

4 DR. McCALISTER: For citizens or for ...

5 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Citizens.

6 DR. McCALISTER: Yeah, because we only have
7 11 slots.

8 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you, Dr.
9 McCalister. Okay. Precinct 8 is my precinct. So
10 obviously I'm concerned about this number 8.

11 DR. McCALISTER: Okay.

12 COMMISSIONER HOLT: What kinds of complaints
13 would contribute to this large number?

14 DR. McCALISTER: We can go back to that slide
15 and I can tell you, or if you'd like we can meet
16 one-on-one and we can kind of like break it down and
17 you can kind of like address it with the commander.
18 But a lot of times it's demeanor and procedure. Those
19 are our highest with all precincts. So that would
20 probably be your major issue.

21 However, I think we're going to meet next
22 week and we're going to do your training for the file.
23 So at that time we can kind of like go over it and
24 break down what you need to talk to the commander about
25 if you'd like.

1 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Okay. Thank you.

2 DR. McCALISTER: You're welcome.

3 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Madam Chairperson.

4 Excellent. I really like the way you've done
5 this.

6 DR. McCALISTER: Thank you.

7 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Very professional. Let
8 me just ask you this. So the F word is taking the
9 place of the N word, or we don't use the N word
10 anymore?

11 DR. McCALISTER: We've only had one incidence
12 with the use of the N word, and that was a supervisor
13 and it was --

14 COMMISSIONER HOLT: So we just took it off?

15 DR. McCALISTER: When it comes about, we put
16 it in the report. If not, then we leave it off.

17 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Can I ask you to
18 consider putting it on there even if it's a no, it's a
19 zero?

20 DR. McCALISTER: Absolutely.

21 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Zero.

22 DR. McCALISTER: Um-hmm.

23 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: The other thing, so if
24 -- the tracking. So if the numbers are consistent with
25 each precinct do we track that for maybe two or three

1 months or year and then we'll let the Chief or the
2 commander know that we are concerned about this
3 particular allegation of this or that? Is it a
4 tracking --

5 DR. McCALISTER: We track by allegation and
6 by precincts. And we do send a monthly report to the
7 Chief.

8 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Very good.

9 DR. McCALISTER: And we do have a frequent
10 flier list that we do submit. So everybody's aware of
11 the ten most, and they do try to go in and do
12 retraining with their officers.

13 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: That's good. Thank you
14 so much. Thank you, Madam Chair.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, Commissioner
16 Holley.

17 Any other questions, commissioners?

18 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burch.

20 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you, Madam Chair.

21 Hello. How are you today?

22 DR. McCALISTER: I am great.

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Good. I just wanted to
24 ask a question, and maybe the Chief if you can't
25 answer. In each precinct how many narcotics, the ones

1 that take care of drugs, the ones that investigate, the
2 NPOs, exactly what number is in each precinct, how many
3 of those? And are all of those officers that are
4 listed would they be under the commander of that
5 precinct or do they have other CEOs that like take care
6 of them? I just wanted to know how does that work?

7 DR. McCALISTER: Are you asking the Chief?

8 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yeah.

9 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair, is that for
10 me?

11 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes, sir.

12 CHIEF CRAIG: Our narcotics unit is a
13 centralized unit. And although each precinct has
14 Special Operations, there's cease fire officers who can
15 do drug work, but that's not their primary job
16 function. But there is a central -- I don't have those
17 exact numbers.

18 So the commander is responsible for the staff
19 assigned in that precinct. And the assistant chief
20 from operations was here. Just like Deputy Chief
21 Barren oversees operations on the east side, which
22 includes the geographic precincts and the metro
23 division. So if you want a breakdown --

24 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Okay.

25 CHIEF CRAIG: We can give you a org chart and

1 give you how are numbers are. That's simple.

2 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Thank you. I'd like
3 that.

4 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Any other questions,
5 commissioners?

6 Thank you.

7 At this time we'll have our personnel
8 subcommittee -- personnel training subcommittee report.

9 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, Madam
10 Chair. The committee met on Thursday, February 7th,
11 and it's the disciplinary appeal subcommittee. And the
12 commissioners included myself, Holley -- Commissioners
13 Holley, Burch and Brooks. The Detroit Police
14 Department Standard Operating Procedures for police
15 recruiting governing the subcommittees decision.

16 Eight disqualified candidates were reviewed.
17 The recommendations of the committee are as follows.
18 Number one, we recommend that the board grant the
19 appeal of one applicant. Her name is Savanna Mann.
20 And her disqualification was based upon the use of
21 marijuana. It was in Seattle, Washington, however,
22 where it was legal and it was two years ago. Thus, she
23 would be entitled to come before the full board if we
24 approve this for a hearing to determine whether she
25 should be allowed to reapply.

1 And then number two, Henry Hobbs, was
2 terminated from the police academy for failing the
3 legal exam during his training. The committee is
4 asking for further information on this applicant, his
5 test scores and full personnel file, before making a
6 final decision.

7 The subcommittee also disagreed to allow the
8 appeal of six other applicants who were for various
9 reasons permanently disqualified. The reasons include
10 arrest history, behavior, integrity, misdemeanor
11 convictions, failure to pass the psychological
12 examination. And the applicants are Ahmad Hamad --
13 Ahmad -- Akmad -- I'm sorry. Ahmad Akmad (ph), Brandon
14 Canty, Jasmine Hamilton, Xavier Hill, Eric
15 Rhodes-Wright and Matthew Spehar (ph).

16 So I make a motion that the board approve the
17 recommendations of the committee.

18 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: So moved -- second.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
20 supported that we approve the recommendations as read
21 by Commissioner Dewaelsche from the personnel and
22 training committee. Is there any discussion?

23 Those in favor?

24 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

25 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those opposed?

1 The motion carries.

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you, Madam.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

4 At this time, Mr. Hicks, we'll have your
5 report.

6 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Madam Chair. I do
7 want to indicate that based upon the decision that you
8 just approved the staff will send out communications to
9 the -- to all of the applicants, and we will arrange
10 for a time for at least the one applicant to come in
11 for the hearing. That may take -- dependent upon the
12 calendar of the applicant and your calendar as a board,
13 it may take a couple of weeks to get that done.

14 I want to call your attention to the
15 information that was contained on the agenda. The
16 Chief did transmit to the board two changes in duty
17 status, which we generally refer to as suspensions
18 without pay. One was for Officer Diamond Greenwood,
19 badge number 3733. And the second one for Allen -- and
20 I'm going to have a problem with this -- Ibram --

21 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Spell it.

22 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Ibrahimovic.

23 MR. HICKS: Ibrahimovic, whose badge number
24 is 1417. This information was transmitted to the
25 commissioners. We followed our typical protocol in the

1 office, and that is we've communicated with the police
2 union, have asked that whether or not the officer wants
3 to be present and that they wanted a closed session
4 hearing. In both cases the union responded yes. So we
5 have set those two items for I believe your March the
6 21st meeting. And so you'll be expected to go into
7 closed session on the 21st on those two items.

8 With that, Commissioner, all of the other
9 communications have come through the office have been
10 transmitted to the commissioners hopefully in a timely
11 fashion so they'll have an opportunity to review them
12 in advance of any of our meetings.

13 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Any questions for
14 Mr. Hicks?

15 Thank you.

16 Any old business, commissioners?

17 At this time we'll have oral communications
18 from the audience. Please give your name and limit
19 your comments to two minutes, please.

20 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, I currently have six
21 cards. Your first speaker will be Mr. Charles
22 Whitfield followed by Mr. Eric Blount.

23 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Is Mr. Whitfield here?

24 D.C. BARREN: Through the Chair, Deputy Chief
25 Barren. Mr. Whitfield gave me his complaint. I'll be

1 addressing it outside.

2 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

3 MR. BROWN: Mr. Eric Blount followed by
4 Mr. Scotty Boman.

5 MR. BLOUNT: Good afternoon, board --

6 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

7 MR. BLOUNT: -- and Chief. For the record, I
8 am Eric Blount, a lifelong Detroiter. I'm concerned
9 about the voting process that this board goes through
10 in making decisions, especially when they go against
11 the Chief's recommendations. He has vast resources
12 that I'm confident do a thorough investigation. So
13 when this board decides to go against the police
14 chief's recommendation I think it's important for us as
15 citizens to know why. Did you have other information
16 the Chief didn't have, or if you have the same
17 information why did you look at it differently from the
18 Chief?

19 I just am concerned. And a lot like your law
20 department actually gives you a recommendation on what
21 they propose you do. I still think it's important that
22 -- especially again when you do not agree with the
23 Chief's investigation and opinion that we hear why and
24 not just a vote. Thank you.

25 MR. BROWN: Mr. Scotty Boman followed by

1 Councilman Roy McCalister.

2 MR. BOMAN: Hi. I just had a couple
3 questions and I'll wind them up and then you can
4 answer. Those who wish to answer can as they wish.

5 First of all, and I suppose it's mainly for
6 the Chief. Maybe I missed it. I did get here late.
7 But I'm wondering if the response times if there was
8 anything that was weeded out? And I'm basing this upon
9 the fact that I have seen studies where, for instance,
10 by the Centers For Urban Studies at Wayne State that
11 would exclude calls where either there was no record of
12 a response taking place or a response was over few
13 hours that they would not count those, because they
14 would consider them outliers or something like that.
15 I'm wondering if those were averaged in? That's a
16 question.

17 Another one is I heard about this portal, and
18 it's definitely a issue regarding what is or is not
19 true. I think that's been clear today. This portal I
20 heard, and I believe you referred to it, that was open
21 to the general public. I'm wondering in what manner is
22 open to the general public? Is there a web side URL I
23 can go to and then access the information? I assume
24 some stuff must be redacted, because there's certain
25 stuff that would be, but at least regarding the timing

1 issue.

2 And then also I did -- and I was happy to get
3 the number of Assistant Chief White last time. But,
4 you know, during the week I'm busy. I have a work
5 schedule. And that's why I was hoping I could have a
6 E-mail address or something or if I could just find out
7 when -- how one could access the use of force policy
8 that I was discussing with him, but I didn't actually
9 see anything in print. I'm wondering if there's a
10 public access point that one can get that at, or is it
11 just like available in hard copy and why so, why isn't
12 it available online?

13 Finally, I have a flier for the Detroit
14 Citizens Police Academy. Now, on this flier it says
15 March 26 to May 14th, 5:30 p.m. to 8 p.m. It's not
16 clear to me if that is just on two different days or if
17 it's on every single day occurring in that date range,
18 and I'm just wanting clarification on that, because,
19 you know, it was actually even suggested that I go to
20 this, but the information wasn't clear to me. Thank
21 you.

22 CHIEF CRAIG: Through the Chair, I would
23 encourage you, and I know that you have Chief White's
24 number, we can make sure you get the information
25 requested. The document I believe it reflects a week

1 and not just those select days, but we can make sure
2 you get the right information concerning the academy.
3 And I would encourage you to do that. I think it would
4 be enlightening for you and probably answer many of
5 your questions.

6 MR. BOMAN: Assistant Chief White would then
7 be able to also answer that question?

8 CHIEF CRAIG: He can. Chief Bettison
9 oversees our neighborhood liaison and coordinates that,
10 but you'd have to call around. In fact, we have an
11 alumni here, in fact, who would be more than willing --

12 MS. PANSELL: I can answer it, yes.

13 CHIEF CRAIG: You can talk to him about the
14 value of attending the citizens police academy.

15 MS. PANSELL: I will.

16 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Ms. Pannell.

17 MS. PANSELL: Pannell.

18 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Pannell.

19 MR. BROWN: Councilman McCalister followed by
20 Ms. Michelle George.

21 COUNCILMAN McCALISTER: Thank you so much,
22 honorable body, for allowing me to come before you.
23 It's always a pleasure to come before this body, and I
24 just am here for two things.

25 One is to welcome and congratulate Ms. Annie

1 Mae Holt and also to apologize, because actually her
2 tenure has been since October. And there was some
3 things, some snafus that came about, but, you know, we
4 jumped on it and we made sure that she was here. So I
5 apologize to this body for the absence of her presence.

6 The other thing is that, you know, it is
7 always a pleasure to work with this board. I believe
8 that together is the respect of the people and together
9 -- it is up to us to work together.

10 And one thing I want to comment on what Chief
11 Craig said was how we measure. And how we measure to
12 me is how we take care of people and how we represent
13 people. And that is my whole objective is to represent
14 people in the best manner that I can. And, you know,
15 this is something that I love to do. The only need is
16 the need that we make sure that people are taken care
17 of.

18 So I just want to make sure that I continue
19 to work with you. And there might be times where I may
20 even rattle you, but the rattlement is because of us
21 working together and there might be some differences.
22 But that rattle doesn't mean is I'm not going to say or
23 do anything because I'm trying to get re-elected. It
24 is about working together and taking care of the
25 people. So I just want to say that. And thank you so

1 very much and I look forward to working with you. God
2 bless you.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, sir.

4 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Through the Chair. Thank
5 you, Council Member McCalister.

6 COUNCILMAN McCALISTER: My pleasure.

7 MR. BROWN: Ms. George followed by Ms. Dietta
8 Wilcoxon.

9 MS. GEORGE: Congratulations as well to
10 Commissioner Holt. And to the Chair, this honorable
11 board and to Chief Craig. How are you, Chief Craig?

12 I wanted to respond to -- and I want to thank
13 Chief Craig for that -- with the situation that
14 happened with the two officers and the Black girl
15 magic. So we are pleased with that. I know that the
16 police department is under a lot of stress and it's not
17 reflective of the police department. So I wanted to
18 say thank you with that situation.

19 Also, with the response time, I didn't know
20 about it. One of my church members called me about it.
21 It was talking about the article. So maybe in looking
22 at Dr. McCalister's PowerPoint, which is very good, and
23 listening to Deputy Chief White, which I'm going to
24 respond because I didn't know you had 400,000 calls.
25 That's a lot of calls. So maybe we're putting

1 everything together.

2 Chief Craig, if you're open to it, I would
3 like to E-mail you maybe some situation -- maybe a town
4 hall meeting that we can do with the citizens in the
5 neighborhoods. Because looking at the article, it was
6 a very strong article, and I see it's causing an issue.

7 There are some neighborhoods in Detroit where
8 you do not see police presence. So, you know, we are
9 concerned about that. So maybe we can work together,
10 if Chief Craig is open to that, and maybe I can E-mail
11 some suggestions. And maybe we need to have a town
12 hall meeting with the citizens of Detroit.

13 I know Bankole Thompson did a poverty meeting
14 one time. Sometimes there is situations that occur,
15 but I will share what Deputy Chief White stated
16 because I didn't know that, and that is a lot on the
17 police force.

18 I will be going to D.C. next week, and maybe
19 I can share with the legislators, because I want money
20 to come in for the police to start getting paid more
21 money and working for the legislators. So I wanted to
22 make that comment as well.

23 And I had another comment, but I think that's
24 it. I also reached out to the president of the Detroit
25 Police Association about the situation, as a comment,

1 about what happened. Because, like Malcolm X stated,
2 the most disrespected person is the Black woman. So
3 I'm glad that what happened did happen, and even though
4 I didn't hear a response from him just letting him know
5 our -- what we were thinking as Black women and with
6 the situation. So thank you very much.

7 MR. BROWN: Ms. Wilcoxon. And, Madam Chair,
8 that will be your last speaker.

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

10 MS. WILCOXON: Good afternoon, honorable
11 board.

12 COMMISSIONERS: Good afternoon.

13 MS. WILCOXON: And good afternoon to you with
14 particularity, Chief James Craig.

15 I am Dietta Wilcoxon, and I have come here
16 today representing a large constituent of Detroiters.
17 I wanted to come to this board, they wanted me to come
18 to this board, and to thank this board for being
19 cautious and taking your time, making certain that the
20 investigation was correctly conducted as it related to
21 the snap-chat situation.

22 Having been a former employee of the city of
23 Detroit's law department, I know how people look to sue
24 the City of Detroit. As quiet as it's kept, we are a
25 multibillion-dollar corporation. That's a very deep

1 pocket, and people look to sue us.

2 So, Chief Craig, to you with particularity
3 thank you for taking your time. It appears based on
4 the press reports and the reports that we saw on
5 television you were very methodical, you were very
6 professional, you were very measured, and you took your
7 time in reaching a decision. Due process of law,
8 needless to say, both substantive and procedural,
9 require that you do what you did. So we salute you on
10 that. And to this board we salute you as well. Thank
11 you so much.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, ma'am.

13 MR. BROWN: Madam Chair, that's your last
14 speaker.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, Mr. Brown.
16 At this time I'll entertain a motion.

17 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: To go to closed
18 session?

19 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: For the closed session,
20 right.

21 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Motion to go into
22 closed session.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: So moved.

24 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Support.

25 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and

1 supported that we go into closed session.

2 MR. HICKS: Madam Chair, please indicate on
3 the record that this has to deal with a personnel
4 items, which is one of the reasons --

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: To discuss the
6 personnel items.

7 MR. HICKS: Yes.

8 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you, sir.

9 Is there any discussion?

10 Those in favor?

11 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Those opposed?

13 Motion carries.

14 Thank you all for coming out this afternoon.

15 You can stay if you'd like. We will be back on the

16 record after to make any decisions out of the

17 discussion hearing. Thank you.

18 (At 4:59 p.m., the board went into closed

19 session. Back on the record at 5:23 p.m.)

20 COMMISSIONER CARTER: This is the request of

21 Detroit Police Chief James Craig that there be a change

22 of duty status for Officer Collins to administrative

23 leave without pay, but with medical benefits. And we

24 are reconvening on that issue.

25 So, commissioners, at this time is there any

1 recommendation or any motion?

2 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Motion to support
3 the Chief's recommendation.

4 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Second.

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
6 supported that we support the -- approve the
7 administrative leave without pay, but with medical
8 benefits for Officer Collins.

9 Is there any discussion?

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Yes, Madam Chair. You
11 know, it would have been helpful if the board attorney
12 would have been here today at today's meeting to share
13 with the board his recommendations in person and also
14 to address any concerns.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Mr. Wyrick had a
16 medical emergency. He did a thorough report for us,
17 and I think that the commissioners -- most of the
18 commissioners are appreciative of the report, and it
19 was not necessary for Mr. Wyrick, Attorney Wyrick, to
20 be in person --

21 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Well --

22 COMMISSIONER CARTER: And you have not been
23 recognized. I have the floor.

24 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Well, Madam Chair --

25 COMMISSIONER CARTER: At this time,

1 commissioners, is there any other discussion?

2 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Madam Chair.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner --
4 Commissioner Holt.

5 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Yes, Madam Chair. And
6 perhaps this is a question I should have asked earlier,
7 but what does it mean -- what kind of timeline involves
8 an administrative leave?

9 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It probably will be
10 until the court cases have been adjudicated. So right
11 now the officer is charged with two felonies, and the
12 -- it will be after the court heard the --

13 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Wayne County.

14 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Wayne County, yes. The
15 case is prosecuted and there's an adjudication.

16 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Thank you.

17 COMMISSIONER CARTER: So we don't know how
18 long it will be.

19 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Madam Chair.

20 COMMISSIONER CARTER: You have not been
21 recognized.

22 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Well, Madam Chair, I'm
23 going to --

24 COMMISSIONER CARTER: At this time --

25 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'm going to put this

1 out here.

2 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Sir, you have not --

3 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Today when I received
4 my packet --

5 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Point of order --

6 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Well, I --

7 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: You're not recognized
8 by the Chair.

9 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Well, through the
10 Chair. When I received my packet today at the board
11 table --

12 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Point of order. Point
13 of order --

14 COMMISSIONER BURTON: -- and I didn't see
15 anything --

16 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Commissioner Burton.

17 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I did not see anything
18 pertaining -- something -- a legal opinion from the
19 board's attorney in regards to this case here when I
20 received my packet today at my table. So, therefore,
21 I'm just now learning more about this case in a closed
22 session. And I have a copy of my packet here, and in
23 my copy of my packet there was nothing of a legal
24 recommendation from the board's attorney.

25 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Madam Chair --

1 COMMISSIONER BURTON: It would have been
2 helpful if he was here today.

3 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Madam Chair, I would
4 like to call the vote.

5 COMMISSIONER CARTER: All in favor?

6 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Aye.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: I'm sorry. We're going
8 to do a roll call vote. Thank you.

9 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Griffie?

10 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Yes, I vote in favor.
11 Aye.

12 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Burton?

13 COMMISSIONER BURTON: I'm going to abstain.

14 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Holley?

15 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: Yes.

16 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Dewaelsche?

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAEELSCHÉ: Yes.

18 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Holt?

19 COMMISSIONER HOLT: Yes.

20 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Davis?

21 COMMISSIONER DAVIS: Yes.

22 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Burch?

23 COMMISSIONER BURCH: Yes.

24 MR. HICKS: Commissioner Carter?

25 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Yes.

1 MR. HICKS: Commissioner, the Chief's
2 recommendation is supported by this board.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Thank you.

4 COMMISSIONER HOLLEY: So move for
5 adjournment.

6 COMMISSIONER GRIFFIE: Second.

7 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's been moved and
8 second that we adjourn.

9 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

10 COMMISSIONER BURTON: And here's a copy of my
11 packet.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: The meeting is
13 adjourned. Thank you.

14 (The meeting was adjourned at 5:28 p.m.)

15 - - -

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

\$

\$38,000 66:10

0

04 26:11

1

1 23:20 31:10,11,14,16,17,18,
23 32:16 33:15 34:4,5,14,17,
23 35:4,5,7,8,25 39:17 40:22
46:8 50:2 52:2 66:12 67:23
70:12

1.1 66:18

10 77:3

10,000 38:16

10-minute 32:2 34:4

100 58:14 76:21

100,000 31:9

109 31:20

11 25:8 74:22 76:21,23 78:7

11,000 35:4

11-minute 31:25

11.24 24:10

12 28:3 31:25 36:1

12.41 28:5

12.45 24:9

127 65:22

13 24:1 28:3 31:13

135 75:4

138 46:21 47:4,5

13th 77:3

14 76:22

1417 84:24

14th 17:13 88:15

19 66:13 76:22

19-0132 21:7

1969 18:4,13,21

1970 19:8

1989 12:24

1999 13:11

1:30 17:12

1s 24:8 27:24 33:16

1st 35:2

2

2 11:21 33:6,15,22 34:14,15
46:8 65:24 67:23

2-25 35:2

20 23:9,11,23 43:23 56:8
76:22

20-month 31:11

200 35:5,25

2002 13:14

2007 75:3

2013 13:18

2017 31:11

2018 31:12 34:21,24 66:12
70:5,10,12,13

2018/2019 19:15

2019 3:2 6:3,15 16:25 17:2,10,
17 35:2 70:12 75:3

2019-B 77:3

2020 70:10

207 75:4

21st 6:15,21 85:6,7

22 13:11 17:2 25:8

22-percent 74:3

22nd 16:25

24 23:11 56:6 75:20

24-hour 35:17

24th 6:15

25 23:16,20 43:24 73:24

26 16:25 88:15

260,000 34:22

27.4 65:21

28 3:2 6:3 31:13 60:18

28th 6:8

29 76:23

2s 33:3,5 50:3

3

3 5:19 15:19 35:8 40:17,22
46:8 67:25

3,000 35:17

30 14:1 19:6,11 31:12,15,24
32:4 33:7,23 34:24,25 35:6
46:18,19,23 59:5 70:12 76:23

300,000 49:12

31 66:12

31st 65:25 66:5

32 74:11

34,000 35:3

352 20:16

3733 84:19

383 23:23

39 23:24

3:02 3:3

4

4 13:14 26:12 40:16

40 27:24 60:18

400,000 91:24

441 17:14

45 23:9 36:2 39:2 52:23

45th 17:1
460,000 51:24
4:14 62:24
4:19 62:25
4:59 95:18

5

50 56:11
500,000 51:7
508 24:2
54 23:16 75:10
54-percent 23:19
55 25:7
554,000 66:17
596-2499 73:22
5:23 95:19
5:28 100:14
5:30 88:15

6

6 3:10
60 35:1
60,000 38:14
600 35:18,24
617 35:3
63 23:13
64 75:10
65 56:25
670 31:9
6:30 15:21 17:15

7

7 5:17 13:18 15:22
7.11 28:9

7/40 27:23
70,000 34:24
718 34:22
74 74:4
7th 17:11 82:10

8

8 12:24 15:23 78:9,10 88:15
83 75:19
86 23:22

9

90 73:18 74:5 76:8
911 21:25 24:17 26:7 27:4,9
29:24 30:18 31:7 38:4,5,6,10,
16 40:6 42:20 47:17 49:23
53:10 58:3,6,10,16 60:17
91st 66:4
94.5 31:22 32:3
99 46:14

A

A.C. 10:14 28:14,24 34:20
38:5 39:18 41:18 43:25 44:17
45:2 46:17 47:9 48:1 49:21
51:20 52:1,4 59:16 61:1,8,11,
16,19,25 63:21 64:15,21
a.m. 26:12 77:3
ability 38:9 42:2
absence 90:5
absolutely 64:7 72:5 79:20
abstain 99:13
academies 74:17
academy 12:25 13:7,12 20:10
66:2 75:22 77:3 83:2 88:14
89:2,14
accept 63:9

access 39:14,25 87:23 88:7,
10
accident 38:15 47:14,22 48:24
accommodate 67:2
accountable 36:15,16,17
50:12,21 51:3
accounts 19:5
acknowledge 17:16 21:6
28:17
Act 7:15
action 45:13,14
actions 5:4 7:17
activated 75:24 76:7
activating 75:16
active 18:18 32:18 59:9
activities 18:6
activity 65:8,9,20 66:9
actual 19:25 25:5 40:3 74:25
75:3
ad 20:11
add 49:5 53:7
added 10:4 24:6 52:15
adding 43:23
addition 20:25 24:4 67:19
additional 15:14 21:4 31:2
49:5 68:14 73:7 75:7
address 4:1 25:15 28:12 29:25
30:6,22 47:19 58:2 78:17 88:6
96:14
addresses 40:3
addressing 86:1
adequate 41:25
adjourn 100:8
adjourned 100:13,14
adjournment 100:5
adjudicated 97:10

adjudication 97:15
adjusted 22:3
administrative 21:7 95:22
96:7 97:8
adopt 6:7 14:20 26:18
adopted 65:21,22
advance 22:4 85:12
aerial 67:10
Affairs 25:6
affect 57:12
affected 36:4
African-american 18:2
afternoon 3:5,6 4:3,22,23
5:14,16,18,20 9:20,21 10:8,9
22:18,20 28:15,16,24 37:5
65:1 72:14,16 86:5,6 93:10,
12,13 95:14
agencies 16:7 30:21
agenda 6:2,7 19:9 22:3 63:19
84:15
Aggravated 23:12
agree 17:23 27:1 58:22 69:14
86:22
agreement 19:22
ahead 28:23
Ahmad 83:12,13
aired 22:25
Airman 18:4
Akmd 83:13
alert 48:20 49:2
alerted 48:16
alerts 33:23
Alexander 18:5 63:16
Ali 4:19,21,24
Allan 11:11
allegation 80:3,5

allegations 25:8 74:12,21
75:4,7,19,20
allegedly 23:1
Allen 84:19
allotted 22:13
allowed 82:25
allowing 89:22
alluded 48:21
alumni 89:11
Amen 5:8,9
amended 66:7
American 18:11,15
analysis 19:24
analyzed 31:10
Anderson 9:12
Andre 65:2
Angeles 26:19
angry 56:2
Annie 3:20 5:15 89:25
announced 21:15
anonymized 40:3
answering 41:22
answers 41:20
anticipate 25:3 66:6
anymore 79:10
apologies 8:21 63:4,21
apologize 29:13 32:16 64:25
90:1,5
apology 63:9
appeal 82:11,19 83:8
appeals 20:8
appears 94:3
applaud 24:21
Applause 3:21
applicant 82:19 83:4 84:10,12

applicants 83:8,12 84:9
appoint 19:4
appointed 4:6 12:23 13:18
appointment 4:10
appreciative 96:18
approach 17:4 60:15
approval 6:3,16 8:11
approve 6:7,20 14:17 82:24
83:16,20 96:6
approved 20:2 65:15 67:6
84:8
approving 70:6,7,17,20 71:8
approximate 31:9
approximately 31:10,20
34:22,23 35:3,17,18 39:2
66:18
April 58:12
aptly 55:14
area 9:11,13 40:3,4,6 74:8
areas 39:13 60:6
argument 30:21 60:14
armory 67:21
arrange 84:9
arrest 75:6 83:10
arrive 30:11 60:19
arrived 26:9,17,24
Arthur 18:20 19:3
article 15:22 58:22 59:13,18
91:21 92:5,6
aspect 42:1
assaults 23:11,13
Asset 66:17
assigned 13:15,19 76:10
81:19
assignment 29:5
assignments 13:3

assistant 10:13,14 24:14
28:23,25 48:21 53:10 63:5,20
81:19 88:3 89:6

Association 16:23 92:25

assume 87:23

at-large 4:7 5:15,21,22 54:21

attack 42:19

attempt 33:10

attendance 3:12 7:16

attended 3:12

attending 9:23 11:16 20:9
89:14

attends 18:19 55:18

attention 9:8 33:8 50:4,13
55:11 84:14

attorney 23:4 96:11,19 98:19,
24

audience 3:6 4:23 5:9 22:3
38:4 85:18

audiovisual 10:5

audit 25:25 32:21 34:13 38:25
57:8,17

auditing 16:5 38:25

audits 39:4

auto 23:25

automatically 33:23

average 31:12 32:1 35:4,24
47:1 51:11,14,16,17

averaged 87:15

averages 32:1 46:25

aware 4:6 69:16 80:10

awhile 55:2 71:18

Aye 6:11 8:12,13 14:24 83:24
95:11 99:6,11 100:9

B

back 15:4 18:13 22:9 26:8

31:22 38:20,21 47:13 50:16
52:25 57:17 62:25 63:2 64:9
68:17 69:2 72:21 73:15 78:14
95:15,19

backed 32:10

backside 24:6

bad 59:13

badge 20:16 73:10 84:19,23

balance 9:18

ball 50:20

Bankole 92:13

Banks 10:1

Baptist 17:14

Barren 10:16 81:21 85:24,25

based 16:9 25:9 49:15,16,18
50:23 75:9,21 76:14 82:20
84:7 94:3

baseline 7:21

basically 29:23 39:25 69:17
77:18

basing 87:8

basis 47:8

batteries 75:13

Battery 76:5

began 13:1 67:15

beginning 22:12 38:22 53:8
68:13

behalf 3:11 9:7 12:20 14:9
15:7

behavior 83:10

belief 30:17

Bell 3:16 76:1 77:2

benefits 20:21 95:23 96:8

Berg 49:1

Bettison 89:8

big 74:19

bigotry 18:7

bit 15:5 29:14 39:15 43:11,17
52:14

bite 64:9,12

Black 17:17,20 18:9,16,17,22,
24 19:7 91:14 93:2,5

Blacks 19:1,4

Blair 65:1,2 68:12 69:11

blanket 50:14

bless 5:5 91:2

blessings 4:21

Bliss 11:3

block 44:10 45:6

blocking 47:17

Blossom 9:9

Blount 85:22 86:3,5,7,8

blown 58:4

board 3:7,8,11 4:2,5 7:18,23,
24 8:6,7 9:2,7,20 12:20 14:8
15:7,11,16,23 16:14,16,22
17:9 18:19 19:17,23 20:19,22
22:2,14,19 24:20 28:15,24
30:24 32:15,24 33:1,7,22 34:6
35:21 43:10,11 45:18 51:21
60:3 63:6,22 64:2,19 65:13
68:19 82:18,23 83:16 84:12,
16 86:5,9,13 90:7 91:11
93:11,17,18 94:10 95:18
96:11,13 98:10 100:2

board's 98:19,24

boards 19:5,7

body 63:16 89:22,23 90:5

body-worn 75:9,19,21,23
76:2,5,10,12,17

Boman 86:4,25 87:2 89:6

bond 67:7

bonds 65:14

book 18:2

books 44:20
BOPC 16:4
bounce 37:11
bounces 37:10
Brandon 83:13
break 52:4 57:3 62:14,16,23
78:16,24
breakdown 24:6 46:7 81:23
bring 35:20 50:12 53:2 60:13,
19 72:21
bringing 36:2 56:16
Brooks 3:17 82:13
brought 33:8 50:9 54:18,22
55:10 71:7
Brown 3:17 6:23 9:5,6 22:10,
23 65:6 85:20 86:3,25 89:19
91:7 93:7 94:13,15
BRYANT 11:9
budget 20:2 64:24 65:3,11,20,
21 66:6,7 71:7,9,23 72:4
budgeted 19:24
building 46:1 73:6 77:4
bullet 55:25
Burch 5:18,19 6:18 8:17
47:11,12 48:13 49:8 54:12
57:23 61:15 80:18,19,20,23
81:8,11,24 82:2,13 99:22,23
Bureau 10:19
burglaries 23:22,23
burning 45:25
Burton 28:18,20 60:10,11,12
61:7,10,18,21,23 62:1,3,4,7,
10,15,17,20 63:10,13,15
64:11 96:10,21,24 97:2,19,22,
25 98:3,6,9,14,16,17 99:1,12,
13 100:10
business 18:23 85:16
busy 36:20,22,23 37:1,7,16
46:1 60:17 88:4

buy 63:24

C

cable 3:14
calendar 84:12
call 9:8 21:25 24:14 26:7,21
27:3,4,9,25 28:9 29:25 30:7,8
31:7 32:24 33:1 34:2,5,10
36:9 37:8,15,20 38:6,10,20,23
39:17 40:11,15,19 41:14,15,
21 42:3,9,12,15,16,20,21,25
43:2,9 44:4 45:3,5 48:3,5,8,9,
17,19 49:3,5,23,24 50:2,5,13
53:10 55:24 56:13 61:16
73:15,22 75:5 84:14 89:10
99:4,8
call-taking 35:21
called 26:11 27:23 40:6 44:10,
20 46:1 50:25 58:3 60:16
91:20
calling 38:12,16 41:16 47:19
48:24 52:9,10
Calloway 10:1
calls 24:17 26:10,13 29:24
30:2,4,15,18 31:10,16,18,21
32:10 33:22 34:4,22,23 35:3,
4,6,7,9,14,17,18,21,23,24,25
37:6 38:6,11 43:2 44:1 46:8,
12,21,22 47:4,16,21 48:19
49:4,22,24 50:1,10,19,22,25
51:3 52:5 54:3 87:11 91:24,25
camera 67:2,4 76:12,17
cameras 64:8 75:9,14,15,19,
21,24 76:2,5,10,11
candid 41:6 57:9
candidates 82:16
Canty 83:14
capital 66:22
captain 10:22,24 11:5 12:3,21
13:19,24 14:11,16,21 19:11
29:3,4,6 33:2 52:16

capture 30:22,25
captured 8:1 29:25 30:5,16
75:11 76:6
car 40:5 60:1,2,3 73:11
car's 60:2
card 22:9,11
cards 85:21
care 48:14 81:1,5 90:12,16,24
career 13:1
carjackings 23:19
carries 6:13 8:18 15:1 84:1
95:13
cars 32:6 59:20
Carter 3:5,7,9,22 4:13,17 5:10,
23 6:1,6,12,19 7:2,4,8,11
8:10,15,18,23 9:1 10:7,10
11:15,23 12:1,7,11,17 14:19,
25 15:4 23:7 28:22 33:17
34:11,19 45:20 47:11 49:9
51:10 54:13 60:11 61:6,14,23
62:3,6,9,12,14,16,22 63:2,11,
14,17 64:13,16,22 68:5 69:1,
9,12,24 72:10 77:6 78:2
80:15,19 82:4 83:19,25 84:3
85:13 86:2 89:16,18 91:3 93:9
94:12,15,21,25 95:5,8,12,20
96:5,15,22,25 97:3,9,14,17,
20,24 98:2,16 99:5,7,24,25
100:3,7,12
case 7:25 19:2 21:23 23:5
25:3,4,7,16 36:13 37:10 38:8
57:6 73:16 97:15 98:19,21
cases 16:6 21:10 85:4 97:10
cast 50:14
cat 40:14,16,21,25 41:1
cat's 40:19
causing 92:6
cautious 93:19
Cavanagh 19:4
Cavin 11:13

cease 81:14
celebrating 17:1
celebration 17:18
cell 37:7 38:3 46:3
center 27:4 35:16,21,23 66:25
67:1,5
centers 67:3,4,6 87:10
central 81:16
centralized 81:13
CEOS 81:5
CFO 65:5
chair 3:9 5:25 7:12 9:4 10:3,12
15:3 17:4 22:18 28:21 39:12
53:6 55:13 58:19,20 59:17
60:10,21 61:11 62:11 63:1,10
64:18 65:2 69:13 70:11 71:20
80:14,20 81:9 82:10 84:6
85:20,24 88:22 91:4,10 93:7
94:13 95:2 96:10,24 97:2,5,
19,22 98:8,10,25 99:3
chaired 20:10
Chairman 70:17
Chairman's 15:5
Chairperson 8:8 51:9 68:3
70:3 79:3
challenge 4:5
challenges 27:12
chance 4:14
change 20:19 57:11 95:21
changed 21:23 50:24 56:20
channel 3:14
Chaplain 4:19
Chapter 15:23
characterize 50:1
charge 9:10,13
charged 20:17 21:23 25:8
57:1 97:11

Charles 10:18 85:21
Charlie 62:4
chart 74:6 81:25
Charter 15:22
chasing 59:14
chief 9:18,23 10:8,9,12,13,15,
16,18 11:2 13:16,17 15:13
16:19 20:6,18 21:2,12,15,17,
20 22:17,18,21 23:8 24:14
25:13 26:6,15 27:13 28:12,14,
15,18,23,25 29:10,15 33:13
34:13 39:12 41:9 47:13 48:21
50:8 53:6,10 55:13 58:12,19
62:11,19 63:5,20 64:18,19
80:1,7,24 81:7,9,12,19,20,25
84:16 85:24 86:7,16,18 87:6
88:3,22,23 89:6,8,13 90:10
91:11,13,23 92:2,10,15 93:14
94:2 95:21
chief's 8:2 21:14 30:17 36:16
86:11,14,23 96:3 100:1
Christmas 15:17 42:8
Christopher 11:11
church 17:14 91:20
Cincinnati 29:18
circle 68:17
circumstances 73:13
cities 29:18,19,20 54:1,5,9
citizen 15:9 16:2,6 27:8 29:23
30:4,25 42:2 51:17 74:4 75:2
citizens 13:25 14:3,9,14 15:25
16:3 31:7 51:7,12,13 72:19
76:7,18 78:4,5 86:15 88:14
89:14 92:4,12
citizens' 16:17
city 3:25 4:9 11:21 14:3,9
15:22 18:1 19:4,17 26:18
27:15,21 50:15 53:17 55:21
93:22,24
civic-minded 17:6
civil 13:22 22:25

civilian 15:24 16:1,15,23 17:2
63:16 66:4
clarification 88:18
clarity 5:3 46:7
class 77:3
classes 66:2
clear 87:19 88:16,20
clearer 71:25
Clerk 3:25
clock 26:22,23 27:9
clone 43:13
cloning 43:9
close 25:15 72:3 73:17
closed 20:15,23,24 21:1 22:4,
6,14,15 75:3 85:3,7 94:17,19,
22 95:1,18 98:21
closer 31:25
club 18:21,23,25
codes 73:11
codified 25:10
Coleman 17:23 18:1,3,5,6,10
19:3 63:13,15
colleagues 59:12
collect 43:15 75:18
Collins 20:16,17,20 95:22
96:8
color 47:7
comfortable 77:12
commander 10:20,21 11:3,9
78:17,24 80:2 81:4,18
commands 74:15
comment 45:24 71:21 90:10
92:22,23,25
comments 7:19 20:22 22:2,4,
12 63:24 85:19
commission 3:9 9:3 49:17

commissioner 3:5,7,20,22
4:3,13,16,17 5:10,12,14,16,
18,20,22,23 6:1,4,5,6,12,17,
18,19,22,23 7:2,3,4,5,8,10,11
8:8,10,13,15,16,17,18,19,21,
23,25 9:1 10:7,10 11:15,23
12:1,7,11,17,19 14:19,25
15:2,4 19:20 20:10,12 22:20
23:7 24:3 28:18,20,22 33:17
34:11,19 43:19 45:19,20,22
46:19 47:11,12 48:13 49:8,9,
10,11,21 51:8,10,11,25 52:3
54:12,13,15,16 57:22,23,24
58:20 60:10,11,12 61:6,7,10,
14,15,18,21,23 62:1,3,4,6,7,9,
10,12,14,15,16,17,20,22 63:2,
10,11,13,14,15,17 64:8,11,13,
14,16,22 65:2 68:3,5,6,7,12
69:1,9,12,24,25 70:2,16,21,24
71:5,11,15,18,20 72:1,2,6,9,
10,18 76:1 77:2,6,8,9,15,22
78:1,2,5,8,12 79:1,3,7,14,17,
21,23 80:8,13,15,18,19,20,23
81:8,11,24 82:2,4,9 83:18,19,
21,25 84:2,3,21,22 85:8,13,23
86:2 89:16,18 91:3,4,10 93:9
94:12,15,17,19,21,23,24,25
95:5,8,12,20 96:2,4,5,10,15,
21,22,24,25 97:2,3,4,5,9,13,
14,16,17,19,20,22,24,25 98:2,
3,5,6,7,9,12,14,16,17,25 99:1,
3,5,6,7,9,10,12,13,14,15,16,
17,18,19,20,21,22,23,24,25
100:1,3,4,6,7,10,12

commissioners 3:8,16 5:11,
24 6:2,11,14 8:12 9:21 14:8,
18,24 15:16,23 16:14 18:20
28:16 45:20 72:11,16 77:6
78:3 80:17 82:5,12 83:24
84:25 85:10,16 86:6 93:12
95:11,25 96:17,18 97:1 100:9

commissions 19:5,7

commitment 14:11

committed 5:2

committee 20:11 71:10 82:10,
17 83:3,17,22

common 26:11

communicate 29:24

communicated 85:1

communicating 37:22 39:10

communication 13:20,21
33:24 35:16

communications 11:6,8 29:1,
2,4,8,12 32:23 33:9,21 42:6
48:4 50:9 51:13 52:16 84:8
85:9,17

communities 14:1 55:6 56:19

community 3:23 4:2 14:6,13
15:20 16:2,11 17:10,13 18:17
24:20 36:4 37:22 39:10,25
41:11,25 55:5,19 56:19 58:1
60:16 72:20,22 77:11,20

companion 25:12

compared 23:10,12,15,17,25

comparison 53:25

complain 55:16

complaint 72:25 73:20 77:13,
16 85:25

complaints 16:6,17 55:12,20,
22 72:19 73:13 74:1,4,7 75:2
76:7,18 78:12

complete 24:24

completed 66:15 67:15,23
77:1

completely 41:6 61:1,2

completion 67:16

complex 43:12

comply 20:2

compress 43:14,21 45:4

compromised 61:3

computer-aided 48:15

concern 15:8

concerned 46:3 78:10 80:2
86:8,19 92:9

concerns 15:9 96:14

conclusion 26:2 36:3

condition 38:8 42:24

conduct 17:10

conducted 24:25 25:17 93:20

conference 16:24 17:5,7
21:14 25:19

confetti 53:1

confidence 18:25

confident 86:12

confirmed 4:10

congratulate 14:15 89:25

Congratulations 91:9

consideration 16:22

considered 18:14

consist 35:4 67:20

consistency 53:15

consistent 31:6 79:24

constantly 32:21,22 57:21

constituencies 54:20

constituent 93:16

constituents 49:15 57:25 58:2

Constitutional 11:12

construction 67:20

consummate 14:6

contact 51:6

contained 84:15

continue 38:25 39:9 53:2
77:4,5 90:18

continued 32:13 67:8

continues 66:24

continuing 16:22 25:13 67:13

continuum 21:10

contribute 78:13

contributions 14:10 19:2

control 15:25 66:14

conversation 23:3 26:5 27:1
55:17 60:21,23 68:20

conversations 56:20

convictions 83:11

coordinates 89:9

copy 19:17 88:11 98:22,23
100:10

corner 44:10

corporation 93:25

Corps 4:19

correct 36:10

corrections 8:14

corrective 45:12,14

correctly 93:20

cosmetic 67:18

Cotillion 18:21

Council 4:10 11:21 91:5

Councilman 11:20,25 87:1
89:19,21 91:6

count 30:19 56:16 87:13

counterpart 33:11

counting 30:23

country 29:19 41:21

County 20:18 66:17 97:13,14

couple 4:14 30:2 34:16,18
36:19 45:23 84:13 87:2

courage 14:12

court 10:4 11:3 22:25 97:10,
12

coverage 21:25

CPR 42:10

Craig 10:8,9,12 20:19 22:17,
18,21 23:8 33:13 34:13 39:12
41:9 53:6 55:13 58:19 62:11,
19 64:18 81:9,12,25 88:22
89:8,13 90:11 91:11,13 92:2,
10 93:14 94:2 95:21

created 63:16

creates 43:5

creating 67:3

crime 21:3 22:21 23:20 24:1,5
40:1 53:13 56:5 66:25 67:1,3,
5,6

crime-fighting 67:12

crimes 10:21 23:11,21 24:2

criminal 23:8

critical 16:12 21:13 53:11
54:10

critically 53:8

Cromwell 9:24

crude 40:13

current 19:15 21:3 67:1,14
70:15 71:22

cutting 67:9

D

D.C. 10:16,18 85:24 92:18

daily 24:4

Darryl 3:17

data 29:14 31:22 39:15,18,21,
23 40:2,9 41:3,8 59:7 75:21

date 23:9 24:7 25:5 66:6
72:24,25 88:17

dates 73:1

David 10:14

Davis 5:16,17 6:22 7:5,10
19:20 24:3 68:5,7 69:25 77:8,
9,15,22 78:1,5 94:19,24
99:20,21

day 18:2,10 24:9 28:10 34:22
35:3,5,25 52:9 88:17

days 4:15 73:18 76:8 88:16
89:1

DBA 67:17

deal 40:19 50:13 57:18 61:8
95:3

December 65:14,24 66:3,5,12
70:13 74:22

December's 65:9

decides 86:13

decision 21:15 25:1 82:15
83:6 84:7 94:7

decisions 7:24 86:10 95:16

decorum 63:22

dedication 14:4

deep 93:25

deescalation 21:8,11

defaulty 75:12

defeated 18:11

defended 18:11

delay 27:6 29:23 30:14 44:1,8
75:14

delayed 45:5 59:9

delineate 49:15

deliver 42:15

delivery 50:2,12 51:5

demeanor 74:13,16,19 75:6
78:18

department 12:13,24 13:4,25
14:2 15:12,25 16:16,18 20:3
21:13 26:12 29:5,17 31:1
34:21 37:19 40:16 51:22
52:18 53:16,17 57:4 64:3,5
66:1,5,9,10,16,24 82:14 86:20
91:16,17 93:23

department's 21:6 66:14

departments 27:14,15,19
28:2,8 53:14,16,22

dependent 84:11

Depending 37:12

depends 44:2

deployment 67:10

deputy 10:16,18 19:16 65:4,5
81:20 85:24 91:23 92:15

description 73:8

descriptions 73:10

detail 69:14 72:8 73:12

detailed 69:17

details 8:2,3

determine 59:22 73:9 82:24

Detroit 3:1,24 4:9,19 11:21
12:24,25 13:4,25 14:1,2,3,8,9,
14 15:22 16:13,15,25 17:1,15,
23,24 18:3,4 19:2,3,17 20:9
29:21 30:13 37:8,9,18 40:15
51:12 52:18 60:15 64:3,5
82:13 88:13 92:7,12,24 93:24
95:21

Detroit's 93:23

Detroiter 86:8

Detroiters 93:16

developing 16:9

Development 65:17

Dewaelsche 5:20 6:5 12:19
15:2 20:11,12 43:19 45:19
54:13,15 57:22 71:20 72:2
82:9 83:21 84:2,22 94:23 96:2
97:13 99:16,17

dials 27:9

Diamond 84:18

Dietta 91:7 93:15

difference 39:16

differences 90:21

differently 27:16,17 29:20
86:17

difficult 51:23 73:9 76:13

direction 30:17

directly 73:23

director 9:12 29:8 65:4

disagreed 83:7

disappointed 64:7 68:8

disciplinary 82:11

discriminatory 16:8

discuss 32:15 95:5

discussed 20:24

discussing 23:2 88:8

discussion 6:9,21 14:22 83:22
95:9,17 96:9 97:1

discussions 7:23

dispatch 32:20 34:7 48:16

dispatched 26:21 30:9 32:12

dispatcher 30:8 33:24 45:15

dispatching 59:25

display 14:12

displayed 13:8

disqualification 20:8 82:20

disqualified 82:16 83:9

disrespect 61:13

disrespected 93:2

distinguished 19:11

District 3:10 5:17,19 11:21

Divers 18:20 19:3,6

diving 24:22

division 13:6 81:23

document 76:1 88:25

documentation 19:21

documents 18:3

Donna 12:3,21,23 14:12,16,21

downtown 17:15

DPD 19:13 20:1 23:1 35:2 77:4

dramatically 56:20

drop 56:14

dropped 50:20

drug 81:15

drugs 81:1

due 5:8 94:7

Duggan 4:8

duplicate 36:23

duty 20:19 21:5 32:9 84:16
95:22

dynamic 52:16

E

E-MAIL 88:6 92:3,10

earlier 3:25 41:13 48:22 52:17
77:24 97:6

earth 64:1

ease 5:5

east 10:17 81:21

economic 18:13

edge 67:9

educate 74:20

effective 16:10 46:11

effort 31:2

Eighteen 23:18

Eighth 13:19 74:9

elaborate 6:24 7:8 26:15
27:13

elderly 55:24

elected 11:17 49:13

electronic 66:14

element 36:7

elevation 41:7

eliminate 16:7

Elizabeth 3:17

Elvin 10:16

emerge 57:20

emergencies 41:12

emergency 9:16 31:1 35:22

49:23 52:8,10 96:16
emerging 18:16
employee 93:22
empowered 15:24
EMS 35:22 44:12
encourage 57:24 75:22 88:23
89:3
end 41:6 56:9 65:24
endeavor 51:23
endeavors 14:15
ended 27:9 70:13
ending 66:7
enforcement 14:5 16:2,24
17:5
enlightening 89:4
ensure 33:25 36:4,6 41:24
entail 33:9
entailed 33:25
entertain 60:22 62:10 94:16
entire 25:20 30:25 43:1 50:15
65:23
entitled 82:23
entry 75:6
environment 36:12
environmental 21:19 25:13,24
57:8,17
equip 67:11
equipment 66:21 75:12 76:15
Equitable 66:11
Eric 83:14 85:22 86:3,8
essentially 44:18
established 41:15,20,23 42:4
esteemed 28:24
Eva 5:21 20:11 57:25
events 17:19,21 37:15

everybody's 37:15 38:13
80:10
exact 46:16 81:17
exam 83:3
examination 83:12
examining 59:7
exceeded 30:16
excellence 14:11
excellent 75:11 79:4
excess 25:16 33:7,23 34:6
exchange 30:25
excited 4:11 47:21
exclude 87:11
Excuse 61:11
excused 3:18
excuses 56:24
existing 49:3
exists 16:14
expand 67:1
expanding 66:25
expansion 67:2,4,5,9
expansive 69:23
expect 66:13
expected 68:8 85:6
expeditiously 33:10 34:2
expenditures 65:22 66:13,19
71:23
expenses 19:25
explain 31:19 47:23
explained 45:18
explaining 47:16
exploitation 18:13
express 15:7
extend 63:4,21
extension 4:9

extremely 74:11

F

facilitate 77:11
facilities 66:20 67:13,14,21
facing 21:13
fact 35:20 44:21 64:12 69:21
87:9 89:10,11
factored 28:10
factors 45:11,18 57:3,4 72:24
facts 61:2,18,21
failing 83:2
failover 37:20 38:17
failure 83:11
failures 32:11 45:9
fair 58:5
fallen 15:8,14 50:11
false 75:18,20
famous 18:24
fashion 85:11
fault 18:7
favor 6:10 7:2 8:10 14:23
83:23 95:10 99:5,10
fax 73:23
feature 38:2
February 3:2 6:3,8,15,20 18:3
82:10
fed 61:4
feel 27:1
feeling 63:5
fell 51:5
felonies 20:17 97:11
Ferndale 37:11
fewer 23:10,15,16,18,22,23,25
24:2 56:8

Field 38:13
fight 18:12
figured 44:22
file 72:25 73:19,20,21,25 74:2
76:7 77:13,16 78:22 83:5
filing 72:19 73:22
final 83:6
finally 5:4 21:20 88:13
finance 19:14,25 65:3 68:14
financial 19:16,21,23
find 27:5 35:13 36:9 37:25
58:21 88:6
finding 25:23
fine 57:14 71:11
fire 35:22 81:14
fired 55:25
fiscal 9:13 13:5 19:15 66:7,15
70:11,15
fit 52:19
Fitzgerald 10:18,19
flag 33:14,15
flagged 34:6
flags 33:23
fleet 66:21 67:22 70:25
flier 80:10 88:13,14
floor 96:23
flowing 22:15
follow 7:22 42:14
force 16:9 21:8,9 88:7 92:17
forcing 22:6
Ford 38:13 73:5
forefront 16:5
foremost 51:21 61:17
forever 56:2
forfeiture 66:9,17,19

forget 46:15
fortunate 48:9
forum 23:2 61:13
forward 26:2 68:16 91:1
fought 18:23
found 29:19 36:25 50:18,19,
22 58:25
frame 39:5 66:1
Franklin 10:24
frankly 30:17 50:20
frantic 30:3
freeway 37:4,5 45:24 46:1
56:8
frequent 80:9
fringes 66:20
front 8:6 18:5 22:11 73:5
full 82:23 83:5
function 34:13 81:16
functioning 76:6
fund 67:7
funds 19:25
future 14:15 19:1 71:7
FY 66:13

G

game 38:14
Gardner 11:5 29:6
Garza-dewaelsche 5:21
gathered 5:1
gave 32:4 41:13 46:16 49:14
85:25
general 73:5 87:21,22
generally 84:17
geographic 81:22
George 89:20 91:7,9

Gerald 11:1
girl 91:14
give 11:18 12:15 20:5 24:18
33:18 40:13 42:2 46:6 65:7
72:25 73:4,12 81:25 82:1
85:18
giving 63:23
glad 4:15 55:10 68:23 93:3
gleaned 39:20
glory 5:8
goal 27:19,22
goals 76:25
God 4:24 91:1
good 3:5,6 4:3,22,23 5:3,14,
16,18,20 9:20,21 10:8,9 18:25
22:18,20 28:14,15,16,24
41:10 43:9 47:16 48:1 51:12
52:19 57:14 65:1 72:14,16
80:8,13,23 86:5,6 91:22
93:10,12,13
governing 82:15
government 3:14 65:14
GPS 59:20,21,24 60:3
gracious 4:25
graduating 12:25
Grandmont 3:23
grant 82:18
grants 65:16,17
gratification 59:1
Graveline 11:11
great 14:9 38:7 45:23 46:9
47:3 80:22
greater 32:2
greatest 47:3
Green 67:8
Greenwood 84:18
greet 56:14

Griffie 8:20,21,25 45:22 46:19
58:20 72:18 96:4 98:5,7,12,25
99:3,6,9,10 100:6

grouped 19:25

groups 55:5

GSD 67:17

guess 15:5 38:1 55:7,12

gun 40:21

guys 68:23

H

habits 18:25

half 44:8

halftime 37:16

hall 92:4,12

Hamad 83:12

Hamilton 83:14

handle 22:14

handled 26:14,15 33:10 34:24
35:6 45:15,16 46:13,15,22
47:18 50:23

handles 9:9 35:16

handling 42:23

hang 38:20 42:22

happen 36:14 37:3 45:7,17
93:3

happened 30:1 35:14 40:4,6
44:18 48:10 65:19 69:15
70:14,23 71:3 91:14 93:1,3

happening 30:3 44:11 60:16

happily 56:14

happy 88:2

hard 39:9 53:2 88:11

hardworking 25:22 51:12

Harrison 25:2

Hayes 10:24

headed 18:21

Headquarters 15:18

hear 22:5 25:3 38:19 55:20,21
72:22 86:23 93:4

heard 54:23 55:11 58:23 68:13
87:17,20 97:12

hearing 24:24 25:4 35:11
77:18 82:24 84:11 85:4 95:17

heart 42:19

hearts 5:2

held 17:17 18:9

helpful 96:11 99:2

helps 75:16

Henry 83:1

Hewitt 11:1

hey 52:13

Hicks 5:25 7:11,12 9:1,4 10:3
12:5,9,12,18 22:23 63:1 68:18
84:4,6,23 85:14 95:2,7 99:9,
12,14,16,18,20,22,24 100:1

high 17:12 60:6 74:10,11,13,
14

higher 60:4

highest 31:5 36:5 78:19

highlight 17:21

highlighted 17:19 31:8

Hill 83:14

historian 18:1

historical 17:19 19:5

history 17:18,20,25 18:2
83:10

hitting 37:9

Hobbs 83:1

hoc 20:11

hold 22:12 36:15,16,17 39:3
50:12,21 51:3

holiday 15:17

Holley 5:22 6:4,17 7:3 8:8,16
49:9,10 51:8,11,25 52:3 57:24
68:3,6 70:1,2,16,21,24 71:5,
11,15,18 72:1,6,9 79:3,7,17,
21,23 80:8,13,16 82:12,13
83:18 84:21 85:23 94:17
99:14,15 100:4

Holt 3:20,22,25 4:1,3,13,16
5:12,14,15 8:13 78:8,12 79:1,
14 90:1 91:4,10 97:4,5,16
99:18,19

home 3:13

homicide 10:23 56:11

homicides 23:9,10 56:6,9

honor 14:10 61:3

honorable 25:21 65:2 89:22
91:10 93:10

honoring 12:3,21 14:20 19:10

hope 20:1

hoping 88:5

horrible 55:25

host 16:24

hour 31:17,18 32:5,17,25
35:7,9 40:20,24,25 41:1 44:8,
20,21 45:5 47:5 59:5

hours 87:13

house 18:6 56:1

hover 28:3

HR 9:12

human 36:7

humble 5:1

hundred 25:17 36:11 59:4

hundreds 30:2

hurt 42:19

husband 42:10

I

Ibrahimovic 84:22,23

lbram 84:20
icon 18:15
identified 30:6 52:12
immediately 22:1 33:8
impact 21:10 41:16
important 15:10 17:19 30:24
39:14 42:1 50:10 53:8 54:16,
19 72:23 73:2 86:14,21
impressive 17:25
improper 45:8
improperly 45:16
improve 58:13 67:11,14 77:5
improved 14:13 52:24
improvements 52:20 59:19
60:8
improving 58:24 67:21
in-depth 68:15
Inaudible 10:25 11:9 33:12
incidence 32:8 79:11
incident 30:12 38:12 40:4
41:14 42:17,20,21 43:8,14,16
44:5,9,11 45:7 51:4 58:4,5
72:24 76:10
incidents 21:9 40:1 43:6,7
45:12 74:23 75:1,10
include 24:4,5,10 35:1 83:9
included 7:19 12:5 13:4 45:17
68:21 82:12
includes 81:22
including 21:13 66:19 67:16
inconsistencies 53:15
incorrect 6:24
increase 23:13 74:3,14
increased 52:12 76:19,20,21
increasing 16:12
individual 16:6 18:18 50:13

individuals 17:6
information 7:6,9,13 15:14
19:23 34:21 37:13 39:19 40:1
42:24 46:24 47:25 48:22 49:6
50:18,23,24 53:23 55:9 68:10,
14,15 69:4 73:7 83:4 84:15,24
86:15,17 87:23 88:20,24 89:2
informationally 8:5
infrastructure 67:18
infused 18:25
initial 48:19
initially 25:8 68:19
initiative 39:24
initiatives 65:12
injured 15:8,12,14
injuries 21:4 48:24
inquire 71:1
inquiries 71:14
inspire 77:5
instance 87:9
instances 32:7 41:17 45:11
insulted 64:7
intake 29:21,23 30:13 43:25
integrity 14:4 61:3 64:1,6
83:10
intent 4:11
intentions 5:5
interest 51:19,21
interested 20:9
interesting 18:22
internal 25:5 35:15
International 17:12
interrupt 33:13
intervene 47:24
interviewed 25:25 56:2
interviews 25:7,17

introduce 5:11 9:2 10:11 29:3
introduced 52:16
introduces 9:17
introducing 18:24
invest 66:24 67:13
investigate 16:17 24:24 75:8
81:1
investigating 16:5
investigation 21:19 24:23
25:12,13 31:19 32:25 35:10,
11,13 39:22 51:6 60:9 76:14
86:12,23 93:20
investigations 21:18 25:6
32:18,19,22 44:7 59:22 62:13
75:17
Investigative 13:21
Investigator 9:19,23,24,25
10:1,2 20:6
investment 67:8
invite 4:1 17:8 28:25 29:1
invited 4:18
inviting 17:5
invocation 4:18,20
involves 97:7
irate 47:20
issue 29:24 46:4 55:2 58:10,
16,24 59:12 64:15,17 75:6
78:20 87:18 88:1 92:6 95:24
issued 76:11 77:1
issues 21:13 23:5 25:19,22
28:12 32:14 54:18,22 55:6
57:19,21 69:15 74:1 75:25
76:5
issuing 76:15
item 63:19
items 16:21 22:23 85:5,7 95:4,
6

J

Jamar 11:7 33:20
James 29:1 64:5 93:14 95:21
January 13:11 31:11 35:2
74:3,12,24 75:3,10
Jasmine 83:14
Jerome 19:4
Jim 5:22
job 37:22 39:9 43:9 81:15
Johnson 9:12 68:18
join 17:6
joined 18:15
joining 8:24 11:23
Jones 9:25 24:16 53:24 62:21
Jones' 28:13 36:25
Joy 44:16,17
Jr 11:21
judge 55:4
judgment 5:3
July 17:2 66:3,11 70:12
jumped 23:18 90:4
jumps 40:22
June 70:12
justice 18:23 66:10
justified 16:1

K

Kellom 21:24
Ken 18:1,3 19:3
key 65:18
kids 37:6
killed 32:9 56:8
kind 24:18 37:16 46:11 53:22
65:7,18 72:20,23 73:1,6,16

74:7 78:16,17,23 97:7
kinds 78:12
knot 5:6
knowing 59:1
knowledge 13:9
Kym 20:18

L

LA 26:19 27:16,19 29:18
labor 11:14 13:16 18:4
lack 19:20
Lahser 48:25
larcenies 23:23
larceny 40:5
large 19:1 78:13 93:16
larger 27:21 67:20
late 87:6
law 14:5 16:1,24 17:5 86:19
93:23 94:7
lead 60:20
leader 18:4,15
leaders 18:16,23
leadership 13:9
leads 75:7
learn 20:1
learning 98:21
leave 43:20 79:16 95:23 96:7
97:8
leaves 73:16
leaving 12:13,15
Leduff 62:5
legal 21:10 82:22 83:3 98:18,
23
legislators 92:19,21
lesser 60:5

letting 93:4
Levalley 10:14 47:10
level 36:5 46:11
levels 20:1 66:4
liaison 89:9
liar 61:16
license 73:11
lie 64:2
lies 61:4
lieutenant 11:7,13 13:14,18
29:7 33:2,20
lieutenants 76:19
life 14:13 16:12 18:17 39:24
42:5,10 50:4 64:4
lifelong 14:10 86:8
light 35:20 54:2 67:9
limit 85:18
limited 19:19
lion 39:22
Lisa 3:8
list 7:16 80:10
listed 81:4
listen 30:1 49:13
listened 30:15
listening 58:8 91:23
listing 15:12
literally 44:10
litigated 22:24
Livernois 44:16,17
lives 36:3 42:6
load 28:10
local 3:14 17:21 66:16
located 17:14 22:9
location 30:11 59:8 73:3,4,25
77:10,23

long 34:11 47:23 54:24 58:9
97:18
longer 31:17,18 32:3,5,17
34:25 35:7,9 50:5 73:1
longest 47:5
looked 6:23 29:17 32:10 59:17
Lord 5:1
Los 26:19
lose 43:21
lot 27:18 28:10 29:14 37:7,13,
14 39:19 41:18 42:18 45:24
55:12 57:16 58:25 73:8,15
78:18 86:19 91:16,25 92:16
louder 33:19
love 46:6 90:15
loved 42:19
low 75:13
lower 28:2
lowering 41:7
lowest 47:2 56:10
loyalty 14:3
LT 11:7 33:6,16,20 34:15
44:16 45:1 48:15
luckily 75:15

M

Madam 5:25 7:12 8:8 9:4 10:3,
12 15:2 22:18 28:20 51:9
63:1,10 65:1 68:3 70:3 71:20
79:3 80:14,20 82:9 84:2,6
85:20 93:7 94:13 95:2 96:10,
24 97:2,5,19,22 98:25 99:3
made 19:1 45:24 59:12 90:4
Mae 3:20 5:15 90:1
magic 91:15
maintaining 66:3
maintenance 66:21

major 10:21 18:14 27:15 29:18
53:17 54:1 65:18 78:20
majority 17:22 25:20 57:13
make 8:1 16:19 22:8 30:21
36:8,17 37:15 43:16 45:24
52:19 56:23 57:11 59:17,20
68:17,18 71:21 76:16 83:16
88:24 89:1 90:16,18 92:22
95:16
makes 43:17 46:2,3
making 26:4 37:6,8 49:20 60:7
68:16 83:5 86:10 93:19
Malcolm 93:1
manage 38:9
managed 65:16
Management 13:5
managers 25:25
managing 38:24 53:18
mandate 34:5
Mann 82:19
manner 87:21 90:14
manpower 34:1,9
March 17:10,11,13 77:3 85:5
88:15
marijuana 82:21
mark 11:3 31:25
matter 20:15,21 22:24 23:2
40:17 55:14 69:21
matters 20:23
Matthew 83:15
max 46:23
mayor 4:8 16:19 17:23,25 19:4
26:25 55:17,18 56:18 63:13,
15
Mayor's 39:24 65:13
Mccalister 9:17,20,22 11:20,
21,25 20:5 72:13,14,17 77:10,
14,17,25 78:4,6,9,11,14 79:2,
6,11,15,20,22 80:5,9,22 81:7

87:1 89:19,21 91:5,6
Mccalister's 91:22
Mcginnis 10:22
means 55:2 75:5
measure 27:15 28:1 29:20,21
54:1 90:11
measured 26:19,21 29:16
53:12 94:6
measurement 28:7
measures 54:8
mechanisms 41:24
media 9:9 10:5 61:4
medical 9:16 20:21 41:12
42:2,5 48:22 95:23 96:7,16
meet 4:5,14 15:18,19 78:15,21
meeting 3:8,13,15,18 9:15,23
11:16 17:13,17,20 18:19
20:14 22:22 45:25 55:16
65:10 85:6 92:4,12,13 96:12
100:12,14
meetings 7:15 17:11,18 54:17
55:5,19,21 56:19 85:12
meets 15:16
Melissa 11:5 29:6
member 4:7 5:14 91:5
members 17:9 36:5 38:4
76:21,22,23 91:20
membership 4:6
men 25:20
mentioned 28:4 72:18
merciful 4:25
Merrill 67:16
message 17:3 21:7,9 22:22
50:7
met 44:12 82:10
methodical 94:5
metrics 46:9,11 47:6

metro 81:22
Metropolitan 12:25
Michael 10:22 20:16
Michelle 89:20
Michigan 3:1
microphone 33:18
middle 47:2
Mile 37:10 48:25 49:1
million 65:21,22 66:18
mini 13:1 67:3,5
minute 39:2 68:11
minutes 6:15,20,23 7:1,13,15,
19 8:11 22:13 27:23,24 28:3,
19 30:15 31:13,16,24 32:4
33:7,23 34:6,24,25 35:1,6
36:2 40:23,24 43:22,23,24
44:1,2,12 45:1,2 46:15,18,19,
23 52:23 59:5 60:18 62:23
85:19
misconduct 16:7 57:6
misdemeanor 83:10
misinformation 36:20
misrepresented 61:2
missed 9:14 87:6
missing 6:25 7:6,9,13
mission 20:3
mistake-free 36:12
mistakes 36:8,10
mix 18:22
model 50:12 51:5 53:14
modified 24:4
modify 16:19
Mohamed 4:19
moment 31:20
money 92:19,21
monitor 16:17 74:7

monitoring 23:4
Monroe 17:14
month 15:19,20 17:9 34:16
monthly 47:7 72:13 80:6
months 30:2 34:16 60:13 66:3
80:1
morning 26:12
Moses 5:5
mother 56:7
motion 6:3,13,16 8:6,18 14:17
15:1 83:16 84:1 94:16,21
95:13 96:1,2
motions 7:17
Motor 23:24
Motors 73:5
motto 31:24
move 8:9 22:4 31:3 64:9,15,
16,23 77:18 100:4
moved 6:4,6,17,19 14:19
47:22 83:18,19 94:23,25 96:5
100:7
moving 34:20
multibillion-dollar 93:25
multifaceted 48:6
multiple 43:13
Mutual 16:10

N

NACOLE 16:23
narcotics 80:25 81:12
nation 18:8,9
National 16:23,24
necessarily 7:24 73:19
needed 64:9 67:19
needing 52:8
needless 94:8

negative 58:7
neglected 50:1
neighborhood 10:15,17,19
89:9
neighborhoods 92:5,7
neighboring 14:1
Nevelen 62:2
newest 3:19 75:18 76:9
news 21:21,24 25:18
newspaper 49:12
night 32:10,11
Ninety-five 35:5 46:17
Ninety-four 31:14
Ninety-three 34:22
noncriminal 16:17
Nonfatal 23:14
nonfatals 23:15
noon 19:18
note 3:16 28:4
notes 7:18 29:12
notifies 33:24
notify 34:8
November 13:14
NPOS 81:2
number 19:1 20:16 21:7 29:8,
17,18 32:14,18,21 36:24
38:11 39:3 42:13 46:15,16
61:13 73:15 74:7 78:10,13
81:2 82:18 83:1 84:19,23
88:3,24
numbers 32:3 53:3 56:11
73:11 79:24 81:17 82:1

O

objection 7:3
objective 90:13

obtained 22:10
occur 92:14
occurred 32:4
occurrence 37:1
occurring 88:17
OCI 72:13
October 13:18 65:9 90:2
office 9:18 10:15 11:2 13:15,
17,22 15:9 20:6 40:14 51:6
53:1 65:14,16,17 85:1,9
officer 13:1,3,8,10 19:16
20:16,17,20 21:16,18 23:1
25:1,2 26:24 30:11 32:7,8
44:11,12,22 59:23 66:2 73:14
76:12,16 84:18 85:2 95:22
96:8 97:11
officer's 44:18 76:12
officers 15:8,12,15 21:22
25:22 27:21 56:25 57:5,9,14,
19 59:8 67:11 73:8 74:18
75:15,23 76:3,4,9,11,20 80:12
81:3,14 91:14
officials 11:17
oftentimes 18:19 43:15 59:21
60:19
one-on-one 78:16
online 88:12
Onstar 58:13
open 7:15 39:14,16,18,23
40:2,8 41:3,8 87:20,22 92:2,
10
Operating 82:14
operations 13:20,21,22 16:7,
18 81:14,20,21
operator 48:4,16,18,20 49:3
opinion 86:23 98:18
opportunity 4:4,14 12:15
85:11
opposed 6:12 8:15,16,17
14:25 83:25 95:12

ops 11:4
oral 85:17
order 20:23 36:22 49:25 98:5,
12,13
org 81:25
organization 17:2
organizations 16:4 17:6
organize 18:12
origin 40:10
originated 40:11
outliers 87:14
outlined 35:12
outrageous 63:25
outreach 9:10
overseen 65:17
oversees 81:21 89:9
oversight 15:24 16:1,4,15,23
17:2 63:16
overtime 76:4
overview 29:11 65:8
overwhelming 17:22

P

p.m. 3:3 15:19,21 17:12 62:24,
25 88:15 95:18,19 100:14
packet 12:6 98:4,10,20,22,23
100:11
paid 92:20
paints 52:6
Pam 19:16
Pamela 65:3,4
Pannell 89:12,15,16,17,18
parallel 21:18
parking 77:24
part 19:21 23:20 25:24 29:7
52:7 56:15 59:24 67:6 74:19

participation 17:8
particularity 93:14 94:2
partner 21:18 25:2 47:9
pass 83:11
past 3:9 7:25 30:2 38:7 69:15,
18 70:14,23 71:4
patient 24:21 58:15
patterns 16:6
patting 52:25
pay 20:20 84:18 95:23 96:7
payment 66:13
Peace 4:21
people 3:13 32:1 36:8,15,17
37:8,25 38:14,15,16,19 41:16
42:15,16,20 47:14,19 50:21,
25 55:4 57:16 58:13,23 72:24
73:21,25 77:12,19 90:8,12,13,
14,16,25 93:23 94:1
percent 19:7 23:9,11,13,14,
16,20,22,23,24 24:1 31:9,14,
16,17,22 32:3,4,16 34:23,25
35:1,5,6,8 36:12 46:14,17
52:5,8 58:14 59:4
percentage 46:12,20
percentages 52:6
percentile 66:5
perception 55:14 56:16
performance 39:1 46:24
period 31:11,15 35:18 40:7
52:1 57:1
periods 15:18 66:11
permanently 83:9
person 30:18 42:13,16,23,25
43:2,3 44:9 47:21 48:2 49:1
51:14 55:23 56:12,14 73:24
75:5 93:2 96:13,20
personnel 20:7 21:4 82:7,8
83:5,21 95:3,6
persons 20:9

pertaining 98:18
petitioned 20:19
ph 62:2 83:13,15
phenomenal 52:18
phone 30:18 37:15,24,25 38:2,9,11,17 39:1,11 41:14 46:3
phones 38:1
pick 30:18 38:23 58:10
picks 27:8
picture 52:7
pinpoints 73:4
place 7:23 33:2,3 34:12,17 36:6,11 41:24 47:15 70:5 79:9 87:12
placements 67:19
Plaisance 67:17
plan 27:23 67:24,25
planned 67:10
planning 17:7 29:17
plans 17:10 59:10 66:22 67:1
plates 73:11
pleased 91:15
pleases 43:10
pleasure 11:22 89:23 90:7 91:6
pocket 94:1
point 16:21 30:5,8,9 31:14 33:5 35:8 40:21 44:3 49:4 54:11 59:11,16,23 88:10 98:5,12
pointed 53:11 55:14
points 39:21 41:22
police 3:8,9 9:2 12:24 13:4,5,9,25 14:2,8 15:16,23,25 16:7,8,9,11,14,16,19 18:20 20:9,16 21:2,20 25:22 26:12 27:14,15,21 28:1 29:4 31:1 35:18,22,24 37:18 40:15,16 44:9 49:7

51:22,24 52:2,18 53:13,16,22 57:4 58:15 60:14,18,24 61:4 64:3,5 65:3,15 76:20 77:15 82:13,14 83:2 85:1 86:13 88:14 89:14 91:16,17 92:8,17,20,25 95:21
policing 10:15,17,19 11:12 16:10 27:25
policy 9:11 16:20 25:10 26:18 88:7
political 18:10
Polly 9:17,22 20:5 72:13
populations 54:2
portal 39:15,16,18,23 40:2,9 41:3,8 87:17,19
position 4:6 63:25
positive 77:18
possession 76:9
post 60:8
poverty 92:13
Powerpoint 19:18 91:22
practice 26:11 41:20
practices 16:8
praise 5:7
pre-ross 36:25
precinct 13:6,15,17,19 21:20 24:11 25:20,21 46:21 57:12,14 67:15 74:2,9,10 77:16 78:9 79:25 80:25 81:2,5,13,19
precincts 24:13 33:12 34:1,9 74:6 78:19 80:6 81:22
preliminarily 25:18 39:5
preparations 67:19
prepare 69:2
prepared 4:5 25:3
preparing 69:21
prepping 66:23
prescribed 24:23

presence 90:5 92:8
present 7:17 45:11 48:18 68:9 85:3
presentation 19:13,18,19 20:4 45:23 68:15,21
presentations 19:12 21:1 22:1
presented 19:16 69:18 74:6
presenting 49:6
president 92:24
press 21:14 94:4
pressure 19:6 43:4
pressured 19:3
previous 8:9 45:25
primary 81:15
print 22:8 88:9
prior 12:15 22:22 23:15 28:9
priorities 15:10 40:18 60:6,7
prioritize 49:25 50:4 51:3
prioritized 50:11
priority 24:7,8 26:10 27:24 31:6,9,14,16,18,23 33:3,5,6,15,16,22 34:4,5,14,15,17,23 35:4,5,7,8,25 39:17 40:16,17,22 41:7,8 46:8 50:2 52:2 60:4
privy 68:15,21
Prize 62:7
pro 41:12,18 42:1,11 43:1
proactive 27:25 57:20
problem 48:6 53:20 69:11,19,20 70:25 77:22 84:20
problems 48:7 55:8
procedural 94:8
procedure 74:13 78:18
Procedures 82:14
process 17:7 24:21 32:11,19 34:12 36:7,24 41:20 43:1,12 59:19 67:24 86:9 94:7

produce 36:23
produced 41:1
profanity 74:22,23,25
professional 11:10,12 14:6
24:22 41:19 79:7 94:6
professionalism 14:4 63:23
professionals 18:22
Program 66:11
Project 67:8,17
projects 67:7,16,20
promoted 13:10,13
property 23:21 24:1,2 50:5
prophet 5:5
propose 86:21
prosecuted 97:15
prosecutor 20:18 23:4
protect 16:3 64:3
protection 15:9
protocol 34:7 35:15 41:15
48:23 84:25
protocols 32:23 33:1 35:12
36:6 42:14 52:12
proven 75:20
provide 4:19 15:13,24 16:15
31:6 36:18 39:25 69:14 71:21
provided 50:18
providing 10:5 29:10 41:25
PSAP 41:21,23
psychological 83:11
public 3:24 7:18 14:11 15:18
20:22 22:2,4,6,12 39:14 41:22
74:20 87:21,22 88:10
publicly 61:17
Pulitzer 62:7
pull 55:23 60:3
pulling 60:5

pulls 40:21
purchase 67:23,25
purpose 4:12
pushed 37:13
put 8:6 12:14 44:25 50:14 52:6
79:15 97:25
putting 79:18 91:25

Q

Q2 65:8 66:9,22 69:21
Q3 68:17 69:23
Q4 68:1
QA 41:12
quality 14:13 16:12
quarter 19:14 65:19,21,24
69:3 70:13
quarterly 19:19 71:3,16 72:21
question 8:9 48:1,2 68:4 70:3,
4 71:14 77:9 80:24 87:16 89:7
97:6
questionable 50:19
questioning 19:20 55:8
questions 31:3 41:19 42:13,
16,17 43:18 45:21 46:5 68:2,
22 71:9 72:10 77:7 78:2 80:17
82:4 85:13 87:3 89:5
quiet 93:24
Quinn 10:6
quorum 5:25 7:16 63:1

R

racism 18:7,12
racist 18:7
radio 45:3
radius 48:17 49:2
raid 76:3

raise 60:14
raised 28:12
range 46:13 88:17
rank 13:10,14,19 76:19
ranked 15:10
rattle 90:20,22
rattlement 90:20
re-elected 90:23
reach 33:11 34:1
reached 92:24
reaching 94:7
react 57:21
read 12:20 49:11,15,19 83:20
reading 29:15 58:21
real 36:3 53:22 54:6 57:4
realtime 66:25 67:1,3,5,6
reapply 82:25
reasons 32:6 35:12 83:9 95:4
reassigned 13:11,16,21
recall 19:20 73:4
receive 16:16 30:11 49:24
received 19:17 66:10,17 74:12
98:3,10,20
receives 15:11
receiving 36:5
recent 21:6,14,21 31:8 55:7,8
56:22
recently 34:16 45:14 55:1
recess 62:24
recognize 14:10 30:24 36:3,22
43:12 44:3
recognized 96:23 97:21 98:7
recommend 82:18
recommendation 86:14,20
96:1,3 98:24 100:2

recommendations 82:17
83:17,20 86:11 96:13

reconvening 95:24

record 7:17,18 11:19 28:25
33:18 62:25 63:3,9 86:7 87:11
95:3,16,19

recording 37:21 38:19

recruit 74:18

recruiting 13:5 82:15

recruits 75:22

redacted 87:24

reduction 23:19

refer 84:17

referred 87:20

reflection 27:10

reflective 25:19 91:17

reflects 88:25

regular 17:13 20:22 21:2
51:12 55:19 59:24

related 15:14 17:19 20:8 21:24
35:19,24 48:19 49:4 93:20

relates 23:6,8,21 25:2 39:17

Relations 11:14 13:16

relationships 77:4

remainder 25:9

remaining 66:13

remains 18:18 31:6

remarks 15:13

remember 22:13 44:14,24
55:15 58:12

remind 7:14 17:9

repairs 67:18

repeat 17:3 47:14

report 8:3 15:5,11 19:13,15,21
20:5,7,13 21:2,17,21,22,24
24:4 26:2,3,4 31:4,5,8 36:3,25
39:20 44:7 46:6 49:11,14

50:5,17,22 51:14,17 57:5
59:18 61:5 62:18 64:17,23,24
69:2 70:22 71:2,22 72:13
79:16 80:6 82:8 84:5 96:16,18

reported 25:6 26:10 59:13

reporter 10:5 50:17 58:3 62:1

reporters 58:9

reporting 58:6 72:3 76:4

reports 20:12 71:3 94:4

represent 3:10 31:8 65:23
90:12,13

representation 19:8

representatives 11:18

represented 17:24 31:20

representing 93:16

represents 65:23

request 68:13,16 69:4,17
73:21 95:20

requested 3:17 19:24 24:3,11
69:3 71:22 88:25

requesting 22:24

requests 65:12

require 94:9

required 7:14 31:19 32:17
35:9,11

requirement 8:5 41:12

requirements 7:21

research 27:14

resident 3:22

residents 16:13 17:22 49:12
60:15

resisted 18:8

resolution 12:3,4,5,20,21
14:20 19:10 20:25

resolved 14:7

resources 66:25 86:11

respect 16:11 90:8

respected 14:5

respond 27:5,23 40:23 49:17,
18 50:6 51:14,17 54:19 68:23
71:13 91:12,24

responded 31:15,23 85:4

responding 46:8

response 21:25 24:5,7,8,9,12
25:14 26:7,9,19,20,22 27:7,8,
11,15,20,22 28:2,5 29:16,20,
22 31:7,13 32:2 36:1 41:5
43:15 44:20 45:6 46:23 52:22,
24 53:17 54:4,7,24 55:20
56:21 58:24 59:2,3 60:14,24
61:4 62:15 64:3,4 72:17 87:7,
12 91:19 93:4

responses 31:23 46:12 58:3

responsible 81:18

rest 9:2

result 19:6 32:23 55:10

retired 12:21 14:20

retirees 26:1

retirement 13:23

retiring 12:3

retraining 80:12

retrieve 76:8

return 20:22 22:14

revenues 19:24 71:23,24

Reverend 71:25

reverse 41:6

review 21:3 77:1,2 85:11

reviewed 82:16

reviewing 16:5

Rhodes-wright 83:15

Rice 10:4

Rickett 11:7 29:7 33:6,16,20
34:15 44:16 45:1 48:15

rights 13:22 16:3

Rivera 9:25
robberies 23:16,17,18
robbery 40:5
robust 54:6
roll 99:8
Ross 24:16 28:13 53:24 62:20
roughly 25:7
row 9:9,11
Roy 11:20 87:1
rude 73:14
run 30:11 32:12,13 33:10
40:24 41:4 44:9,13,14 45:15
57:2
running 32:22
runs 31:14 32:17 51:24 52:2
60:7
rush 15:6

S

safety 15:9,18 41:22
salaries 66:20 71:1
sale 64:6
salute 94:9,10
sat 33:1
Savanna 82:19
save 42:5,10
saved 42:6
scale 67:20
Scales 19:16 64:24,25 65:4
69:7,8,13 70:11,19,22 71:2,6,
13,17 72:5,7
scene 26:24
schedule 88:5
scheduled 19:12
school 3:24 17:12
scorecard 46:10

scores 83:5
Scotty 86:4,25
scourge 18:9
screaming 30:5
scrooge 18:8
seated 22:10
Seattle 82:21
seconds 30:14 31:13 36:2
39:2 52:23
Section 13:2,5
select 89:1
send 60:3 80:6 84:8
Senior 9:24,25
seniority 76:18
sense 43:17 45:24 46:2,3
49:20
separate 43:7
September 16:25 17:4 31:12
sequence 42:17
sergeant 10:6 11:1 13:10,11,
13
sergeants 76:20
series 30:3
serve 4:11
served 13:20,23,25 14:2
service 14:11 19:11 27:2,8
31:10,16,18 35:17,23 36:5
38:3 41:25 42:15 46:11 49:22
50:2,11 51:5 52:8 54:3,9
74:14,19
serviced 26:13 34:21,23 35:3
51:7
services 10:5 13:5,6 21:16
35:22 36:18 42:2,5
session 10:6 20:15,23,24 21:1
22:5,7,14,15 85:3,7 94:18,19,
22 95:1,19 98:22

set 28:5 42:16 57:17 85:5
seven-minute 27:20,22 53:17
severe 55:3
sex 23:11
share 39:22 58:6 92:15,19
96:12
shared 19:23
sharing 53:23 66:11
Sheila 10:4
Shirley 5:18
shootings 23:14
short 41:19 50:11
show 46:20,23 58:7 60:18
63:23
showing 27:2
shown 69:15
shows 41:4
shut 75:13
side 58:7 66:16,24 81:21
87:22
sides 58:9
signal 36:21,22,23 37:2 46:2
60:17
significant 57:11
similar 26:18
simple 19:24 82:1
simply 58:4
sincerest 63:9
single 49:23 88:17
sir 10:7 11:24 23:7 61:12
64:21 81:11 91:3 95:8 98:2
sit 54:7
sits 27:4
sitting 9:5 24:8 56:5
situation 30:3 31:1 37:19 43:5
55:25 91:13,18 92:3,25 93:6,

21
situations 74:23 92:14
Sixth 21:19 25:21 57:12,14
Sixty 38:15
skills 13:9
slide 65:6,19 66:8,21 78:14
slots 78:7
slow 15:6
small 55:19 77:22
snafus 90:3
snap-chat 93:21
so-called 26:14
social 18:23
society 18:24
son 56:2
sooner 60:23
SOP 77:1
SOPS 25:11
sound 64:9,11
speak 33:18 47:2 61:21 74:17
speaker 22:13 85:21 93:8
94:14
speaker's 22:9
speaking 14:8 77:2
speaks 47:1
special 4:9 81:14
specific 19:22 51:4 68:22
specifically 68:25
Spehar 83:15
Spell 84:21
spending 20:1
spirit 14:13 17:24
sporting 37:14
Stacy 11:13

staff 9:3,18 10:11 81:18 84:8
staffing 66:4
stand 11:18 52:23 64:1
standard 27:18 53:9 82:14
Standards 11:10,12 24:22
standing 20:11
standpoint 39:7
start 22:19 26:22 28:17 29:15
37:5 92:20
started 66:2 74:14
starting 5:12 10:12 17:15
57:20 67:25
starts 27:10 70:12
State 87:10
stated 92:15 93:1
Station 13:1
statistics 21:3
stats 22:21,22
status 20:20 84:17 95:22
stay 22:6 38:23 95:15
Steele 21:16 25:1,7
Steele's 21:18
step 18:14 33:17 69:7
Steve 62:1
Stewart 10:20
stolen 40:5
stop 26:23
stopping 77:20
stories 21:21 56:21
story 22:25 24:16 28:13 29:11
42:8 51:22 52:21,22 55:18
56:15,25 57:1
strategies 67:12
street 17:14 44:15,19
stress 57:13 74:18 91:16

stressing 74:16
strike 40:10
strong 92:6
studies 87:9,10
study 54:6
stuff 6:25 87:24,25
subcommittee 20:7,8,10 82:8,
11 83:7
subcommittees 82:15
submission 65:12
submit 69:22 80:10
submitted 65:13
substantive 94:8
sue 93:23 94:1
suggest 19:6
suggested 88:19
suggestions 92:11
Supervising 9:24
supervision 29:2
supervisor 32:12,13 33:9,25
34:8 65:3 79:12
supervisors 26:1 76:15
supervisory 15:24
support 6:5 14:18 15:8 24:19
38:11 94:24 96:2,6
supported 6:7,20 14:20 83:20
95:1 96:6 100:2
supporting 16:10 66:19
Supportive 13:6
suppose 87:5
survey 73:6
suspend 20:20
suspensions 84:17
sustained 25:9
sworn 3:25 66:4 76:22,23

system 3:24 35:15 39:11 43:4
45:10 48:16,20,25

T

table 22:10 60:20 98:11,20

Tactical 13:4

tainted 18:8

take-a-ways 54:10

taker 30:7 42:9 48:5,8

taker's 41:15

takers 41:14 42:21 43:2

takes 30:10 73:1

taking 7:23 79:8 87:12 90:24
93:19 94:3

talk 25:14 33:14 39:15 41:11
47:9 48:12 49:22 53:9 56:20,
22 58:8 72:21 74:18,20 76:25
78:24 89:13

talked 50:8 53:7 60:5

talking 40:14 44:3,14 51:24
55:1 56:5,10,19 60:24 70:13
91:21

talks 36:21

taping 10:6

tardiness 8:22

target 46:13

tasks 5:6

teacher 3:23

team 50:9 51:21

technician 47:23

technology 66:24 67:9 71:1

teens 18:24

telephone 73:15

Teletype 21:7

television 64:2 72:22 94:5

telling 56:6 57:10 70:22 71:3

ten 23:14 34:6 75:11 76:21
80:11

tenure 90:2

terminate 21:15

terminated 25:1 83:2

terms 8:2 23:19 25:12 46:7
65:9

Terrance 21:24

test 83:5

testified 18:5

testifying 18:7

testimony 18:13 21:23 23:1

testing 39:4

Thanksgiving 15:17

thefts 23:24,25

theme 35:10 77:5

thing 38:7,20,22 41:10 43:3
47:20 51:9 52:15 53:7,13,21,
22 54:4 58:21 67:22 79:23
90:6,10

things 15:6 26:7,17 36:14,19
45:7,16 47:25 51:1 52:11,13
65:18 69:6 89:24 90:3

thinking 93:5

third-party 50:25

Thompson 92:13

thought 19:22 43:21

thousand 38:15

thousands 18:16

three-second 75:14

three-year 56:7

Thursday 3:2 15:20 24:25
82:10

Thursdays 15:19

tick 27:10 32:14

ticket 43:13,14 44:19 45:4
49:6,7 63:24

tickets 42:22 43:10,13,16,22
44:22

ticking 26:23

Tiffany 10:20

time 3:19 4:1,18 5:11 6:2 7:25
8:19 10:4,10 11:17 12:2 17:1
21:25 22:16 23:6,10,12,17,25
24:5,7,8,9,15,23 25:14 26:8,9,
19,20,23 27:11,15,20,22,24
28:2,5,6,7,8,10 29:16,20,21,
22,24,25 30:5,8,10,23 31:8,
12,13,15 32:2 34:5 36:1 37:12
38:12 39:5 40:7 41:5 42:3,5
43:15 44:12,21,24 46:2,23,25
50:5,24 52:22,24 53:18 54:4,
7,24,25 55:20 56:21 58:24
59:5,23 60:22 61:4 62:15 63:4
64:4 66:1 69:5 70:6 72:12
73:17 76:16 78:23 82:7 84:4,
10 85:17 88:3 91:19 92:14
93:19 94:3,7,16 95:25 96:25
97:24

timeline 97:7

timely 31:6 85:10

times 7:22 17:3,4 24:12 36:24
38:7 41:18 42:18 59:1,2,3
60:14,25 73:8,16 78:18 87:7
90:19

timing 87:25

tipping 33:5

tirelessly 13:24

today 3:25 5:1 9:15 10:5 11:16
12:10 15:6 18:18 19:9,18 29:9
41:13 50:8 55:11 60:24 77:24
80:21 87:19 93:16 96:12 98:3,
10,20 99:2

today's 3:13,18 9:23 10:6 23:9
24:7 96:12

told 45:25 51:15 58:4

tongues 5:6

tools 67:11

top 29:13

Torres 12:3,22,23 13:1,8,13,
18,24 14:12,16,21 19:11
Torres' 13:3
total 29:22 41:4 46:2 52:2 54:3
66:4
totally 45:16 61:2 75:20
tout 27:19
touting 53:17
tower 37:7,9,10,11,13
towers 46:4
towing 67:21
town 12:14,16 92:3,11
track 73:1 74:21 79:25 80:5
tracking 79:24 80:4
training 13:7,12,20 20:7 66:2,
21 78:22 82:8 83:3,22
transition 65:15
transmit 84:16
transmitted 84:24 85:10
transparent 31:2 56:24
travel 28:6,8 29:22 30:10
53:18
tree 37:20 38:11,17,22 39:1,11
40:15,16,20,25 41:1 48:9
tremendous 13:9
trigger 35:13
true 27:7,8,10 87:19
trust 16:10
truth 57:10
turn 22:16 24:5 26:6 28:11
33:24 34:4,7 58:8 76:3
Tuskegee 18:4
Twelfth 13:6,17 74:10
Twelve 52:23
two-year 52:1 57:1
type 39:17

types 50:25
typical 84:25
typically 9:5 53:13 72:20

U

U.S. 18:5 23:4
UCR 53:14
Um-hmm 79:22
un-american 18:6
unable 76:8
uncommon 32:20
unconventional 18:10
underserved 50:15
understand 3:24 5:7 12:12
51:18 69:11 70:4,9 71:15
understanding 12:9
understands 51:15
underway 17:8
unfortunate 52:7
uniforms 66:20
union 85:2,4
unique 30:13
unit 26:22 27:4,5 34:2,9 66:18,
19 81:12,13
unknowns 73:9 74:11
unmanned 67:10
unnecessary 16:8
unpredictable 59:3
unprofessional 63:8
untie 5:6
unusual 37:1
unwavering 14:12
update 19:20 21:4,12,14 24:19
29:10
updates 24:15

upset 30:4
Urban 87:10
urgent 40:17
URL 87:22

V

variance 71:24
varies 50:2
variety 32:5
vast 25:20 57:13 86:11
vehicle 23:24 67:23,25
vehicles 67:10
verify 7:16
veteran 18:4
victim 56:12
video 76:5,8
view 58:3
viewing 3:13,15
views 18:10
violation 25:10
visitors 16:13
voice 37:21 38:18,19
volume 49:24 50:3 52:21
vote 7:6 8:7 20:23 86:24 99:4,
8,10
voted 65:10
votes 22:15
voting 7:1 86:9

W

wait 47:5
waiting 53:1
walk 18:16 38:13 42:9
walked 43:1

walks 21:9
wanted 8:1 12:14 26:17,25
47:12 53:7,25 56:13 57:23
58:18 64:18 68:25 72:18
80:23 81:6 85:3 91:12,17
92:21 93:17
wanting 88:18
Washington 10:2 82:21
waste 69:5 73:17
Wayne 20:18 66:17 87:10
97:13,14
ways 54:5
weapon 41:2
weapons 66:14
wearing 75:15
web 87:22
website 73:23
weeded 87:8
week 15:17 24:8 25:4 28:5,9
46:21 54:17 69:22 72:8 78:22
88:4,25 92:18
weekly 15:11
weeks 15:19 24:24 25:16 26:3
84:13
West 10:19
Western 17:11
White 9:10 10:13 24:14 25:14
26:6,15 27:13 28:12,14,24
29:1 34:20 38:5 39:18 41:18
43:25 44:17 45:2 46:17 47:9
48:1 49:21 51:20 52:1,4 53:10
59:16 61:1,8,11,16,19,25
63:5,20,21 64:5,15,20,21 88:3
89:6 91:23 92:15
White's 88:23
Whitfield 85:22,23,25
widely 14:5
Wilcoxon 91:8 93:7,10,13,15
William 5:16

Willie 3:16
wind 87:3
winner 62:8
wisdom 5:3
withdrawn 25:9
woman 55:24 93:2
women 25:21 93:5
wondering 87:7,15,21 88:9
Woodward 37:11
word 74:22,24,25 79:8,9,12
words 5:4 63:7
work 5:2 9:7 10:6 16:9,15,18,
22 24:21 25:21 32:1 38:1,2
39:9 47:18 52:18 53:2 74:15,
16 81:6,15 88:4 90:7,9,19
92:9
workers 18:12
working 52:11 67:18 90:21,24
91:1 92:21
works 32:20 39:11 41:5 48:9
77:21
worth 64:1
Worthy 20:18
writer 18:1
writing 68:24
wrong 7:4 72:25
WXYZ 22:25 24:17 62:21
Wyrick 9:15 96:15,19

X

Xavier 83:14

Y

y'all 7:7
year 17:1 19:15 23:10,12,15,
17,25 56:6,10 58:12 65:23
66:6,7,15 67:23,25 70:12,15

74:4,5 80:1
years 14:1 19:11 29:8 34:18
39:24 52:25 55:15 56:11 57:6
76:22,23,24 82:22
yelling 30:4
yesterday 24:9,10 25:19 36:1
Young 17:23 18:5,6,11,15
63:16
Young's 18:13